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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Revenue

Income tax expenses

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Total assets

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
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For the year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEFE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
352,937 371,883
(11,434) (8,020)
26,482 33,735
25,331 31,940

As at 31 December

2019
20194
HK$'000
FET

286,400
142,430

143,970

M12831H
2018
20184
HK$'000
FHET

270,846
154,130

116,716

2017
20174
HK$'000
FHET

305,021
(8,020)
25,748

24,208

2017
20174
HK$'000
FET

235,683
151,770

83,913

2016
2016%F
HK$'000
TET

241,628
(6,361)
19,556

19,229

2016
20164
HK$'000
FET

172,639
99,509

73,130



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Cirtek Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group” or “Cirtek”), | would like to
present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020.

Over the past year, the impact of the pandemic has been seen in all
industries across the world, and was particularly visible in the supply
chain and consumer goods sector in the first half of the year. On the
supply side, the pandemic first hit the entire industrial supply chain and
factories in China in February 2020 and subsequently spread across the
globe. On the demand side, the widespread impact of the pandemic
has not been limited to European and American countries, but has
disrupted the entire global economy and retail market, leading to the
postponement of orders and delivery of products requested by some of
the Group's customers.

Such a difficult business environment has inevitably affected the
performance of Cirtek in the past year. Despite adversities, the Group
still managed to achieve a turnaround, rebounding from a loss-making
situation, as reported in its interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2020, into a profitable position, thanks to the strategic position of
its factories which has enabled the Group to leverage its advantages
to overcome the challenges amid the pandemic. In mid-February 2020,
the Group's factories in China swiftly resumed production without
compromising the health and safety of its employees, and the impact of
the pandemic on the factories in Vietnam and Bangladesh was relatively
mild, and thus product supply was secured by their basically normal
operation. To respond to the daily upheavals in the market, the Group
maintained close communications with its business partners to deploy
capacity flexibly as per customers’ request, and it also adopted stringent
cost control measures. The efficacy of such measures, together with
the support of new products with higher gross profit, contributed to
the Group's improved gross profit margin for the year. In return for
shareholders’ support, the Board has recommended payment of a final
dividend in cash of HK0.075 cents per ordinary share.

As the market adapts to the new normal, we are pleased to see a quick
recovery in orders in all product categories in the second half year,
as well as the significant improvement in sales compared with that in
the first half year, with Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) products
performing particularly well. Over the last few years, the Group has
increasingly expanded its product portfolio and unleashed the potential
of RFID technology in an effort to develop the underlying products. Our
efforts on portfolio expansion and quality enhancement have paid off. An
overwhelmingly positive response from customers has facilitated a spike
in product sales which soared by 1.3 times during the year, thus attesting
to the success of our product development efforts.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWHE

We believe that the upward trend that commenced in the second half of
2020 will continue in 2021 and beyond, since, in addition to the launch
of vaccines to control the pandemic, customers and consumers have
gradually adapted to the post-pandemic new normal with improved
consumer sentiment. As a result, we remain cautiously optimistic about
the prospects of our business, and are confident that our business
performance will be back on track.

In view of the above, the Group will be well-prepared for the market
recovery to be emerged in a short-to-medium term, including further
investment in expansion of sales markets. Prior to the pandemic, the
Group has established a global network of liaison offices in over 40 major
apparel markets in Americas, Europe and Asia, through which the Group
could consolidate its business relationship with international apparel
brands. In addition, we have planned to set up points of sales where
the potential customers are located to approach new local customers,
further expanding its geographical coverage.

Prior to the outbreak of the pandemic, as Bangladesh is one of the
top three garment exporters in the world, we were aware of business
opportunities brought about by the growth in local demand for apparel
labels and trim products, and proposed to set up a new factory in
Adamjee Export Processing Zone in Bangladesh which is expected to
commence operation at the end of 2021. Upon the completion of the
construction of the new factory, the Group may shorten its production
and delivery time, enhance its production efficiency and productivity
and achieve cost efficiency, while additional space will be available for
installation of new machines for diversifying product portfolio. On top of
Bangladesh, we will also explore opportunities for setting up factories in
centers of apparel manufacturers, such as other Asian countries, Eastern
Europe and South America, in an effort to expand productivity and seize
opportunities for expanding markets.

In relation to our products, we have launched eco-friendly products as
we are aware of a rising trend of going green, and the initial response
was encouraging. We will further invest in the development of these
products to diversify our product portfolio and income streams. On the
other side, as RFID and Near Field Communication (NFC) technologies
will become widely used in apparel retail, we have invested in relevant
business with an aim to provide our customers with one-stop solutions
as well as development and application services of ancillary software
and hardware. In the information era, Cirtek is committed to facilitating
industrial digitalization, to ultimately allow more corporate users to
elevate their competitiveness in the market.

| would like to extend my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, staff
members, customers and suppliers for their solid support for the Group.
Looking ahead, we will further consolidate our relationship with all
stakeholders to achieve win-win outcomes.

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The outbreak of the novel coronavirus pandemic (the “COVID-19")
impacted the global market, with particular severity during the first half
of 2020. As the pandemic spread rapidly, governments implemented
strict anti-pandemic measures such as border controls, which resulted
in disruptions to the supply chain and the rapid contraction of end-user
demand. The European and U.S. economies and retail markets were
also severely affected, with customers delaying product orders and
deliveries, and economic activities almost coming to a halt. Stepping into
the second half of 2020, the pandemic was first brought under control in
China, making it the only major economy in the world to record positive
economic growth in 2020. Meanwhile, the global economy gradually
adapted to the new normal, and production and retail activities began to
resume.

As the pandemic raged on, the global retail market, including the
apparel market, was seriously affected. As a result, the demand for
apparel labels and trim products decreased correspondingly. The
Group's business was inevitably affected, resulting in a year-on-year
decrease in revenue of 26.5% to approximately HK$259.3 million (2019:
HK$352.9 million). However, the Group’s orders started to rebound in
the second half year. Therefore, sales in the second half year showed
improvement when compared with the first half year, which narrowed
the decline for the whole year. Gross profit for the year dropped by
25.5% to approximately HK$130.2 million (2019: HK$174.8 million). With
effective cost control measures and flexible deployment of resources
for efficiency improvement, in addition to the support of new products
with higher gross profit, the Group's gross profit margin rose slightly by
0.7 percentage point to 50.2% (2019: 49.5%). Profit attributable to the
owners of the Company was HK$1.6 million (2019: HK$25.3 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 93.5%, which was mainly
due to the reduction in revenue caused by the impact of the pandemic
throughout the year.

In response to the challenges brought by the outbreak of the pandemic,
the Group implemented a series of measures at the beginning of 2020,
including strict preventive measures to ensure the safety of employees
and arrangements for plants to resume operation as soon as possible.
At the same time, it maintained close communication with business
partners and adjusted production capacity based on customers’ needs. In
addition, stringent cost control measures were taken, such as adjusting
working hours by implementing a shift system according to order
requirements. As the industry gradually adapted to the new normal,
orders for various types of products of the Group rebounded in the
second half year, representing an improvement compared with the first
half year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

In terms of production, before the outbreak of the pandemic, the Group
gained insight into the increasing number of business opportunities
arising from the growing demand for apparel labels and trim products
in Bangladesh. It therefore made plans to expand local production
capacity. The Group's determination has not been dampened by the
pandemic. Instead, the management regards this as an opportunity
to expand production capacity, which will help the Group secure a
leading position for capturing opportunities following the post-pandemic
demand recovery. Therefore, the Group began construction of the new
production facility in Bangladesh (the “New Bangladesh Factory”) in
October 2020. The New Bangladesh Factory has a gross floor area of
approximately 10,600 square meters, which is expected to be put into
production by the end of 2021. This will help the Group seize business
opportunities arising from the growth in local demand for apparel labels
and trim products, as well as meet market demand for production
capacity in the post-pandemic period in Bangladesh. The Group will also
be able to shorten production lead time through the New Bangladesh
Factory to improve production efficiency, increase production capacity
and save costs, while providing additional space for the installation of
new machines and for diversifying its product portfolio.

In terms of products, sales of Radio Frequency ldentification (RFID)
products was 15.7 million units, which achieved a significant year-on-
year increase of 130% in 2020, contributing HK$8.2 million in revenue.
In order to meet the needs of customers with internet of things (“loT")
applications, the Group established Cirtek Link (Shenzhen) Limited
("Cirtek Link SZ") in mid-2020. With its own research and development
team, Cirtek Link SZ will focus on the development of RFID core
technology and RFID system platforms, products and project solutions,
which can be widely used in various areas of loT applications such as
smart warehousing, smart production, anti-counterfeit tracking, file
management, and smart washing.

Outlook and Future Prospects

Stepping into 2021, the launch of new coronavirus vaccines gives
hope that the pandemic will be brought under control and economic
recovery will commence across the globe, although such developments
will be subject to the effectiveness and the general take-up of the
vaccines. Furthermore, the Sino-US relation will continue to introduce
uncertainties to the business environment in the coming year. In addition
to the macro-economic situation, the management will closely monitor
the impacts of RMB appreciation, and the rise in raw material costs and
freight charges on the business operation, and will adopt responsive
measures to maintain the profitability of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

The Group is well prepared for 2021. Over the past year, the retail
market has adapted to the new normal amid the pandemic, and it is
expected that the increase in the number of orders during the second
half of 2020 will continue in 2021. Following with the industry’s recovery,
the Group plans to consolidate its business relationships with existing
international apparel brands through its global offices, as well as expand
its geographical coverage and customer base by setting up sales offices
in the regions where its potential customers are located, particularly
Europe. Additionally, in order to respond to its customers’ demands, the
Group is conducting research into the feasibility of establishing factories
in other Asian regions, Eastern Europe and South America, and thereby
gain orders from local apparel customers to accelerate its business
development.

In addition to market expansion, the Group will continue to invest in
research and development as well as the production of RFID products,
and progressively promote the new RFID system platform, product
and project solutions to its customers. The Group is proud that, at the
beginning of 2021, its leading RFID technology and outstanding solutions
have been recognised. The Group topped the “Most Popular RFID
Enterprise Award” and was granted the “Excellent Solution Award"” by
the organise committee of the China International Internet of Things
Technologies Expo, recognising the Group's research capabilities and
innovation in RFID core technology. Eco-concept products are set to
be the most sought-after items in the near future, as evidenced by the
enthusiastic demand for the products over the past year. The Group will
develop and produce more eco-friendly products to diversify its product
portfolio, create demand for its products and protect the environment.

As a leading manufacturer of apparel labels and trim products, with
a wide range of apparel labels and trim products on offer, a mature
geographical footprint, and a strong capability in product development
together with the commencement of operations at the newly established
factory in Bangladesh in 2021, the Group is able to satisfy the production
demand in Bangladesh amid the pandemic. Under the leadership of
its highly experienced management, the Group is confident that it will
be well-prepared for a market recovery, and that it can return on right
track to long-term growth, as well as create maximum value for its
shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Group is mainly generated from the sale of apparel
labels and trim products, such as hang tags, woven labels, printed
labels and heat transfer products. Revenue of our Group decreased by
approximately HK$93.6 million or 26.5% from approximately HK$352.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately HK$259.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. Such decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in the demand of apparels label and trim
products and the demand is highly reliant on the level of market activities
undertaken by our customers, which is driven by market sentiment. The
outbreak of the novel coronavirus pandemic has worsened the market
sentiment in the world during 2020. As a result, the Group's customers
have reduced their respective market activities and demand.

Cost of sales and gross profit

Cost of sales over the total revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020 was approximately 49.8% (31 December 2019:
approximately 50.5%. The Group will continue to strengthen cost
control and upgrade production technology to enhance its market
competitiveness.

As a result, the gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December
2020 increased by approximately 0.7 percentage point to approximately
50.2% (31 December 2019: approximately 49.5%). The gross profit for
the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately HK$130.2 million
(31 December 2019: approximately HK$174.8 million).

Other income and gains

Other income and gains mainly included interest income from time
deposit, gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment,
sales of scrap materials, government grants and others. For the year
ended 31 December 2020, the other income and gains increased by
approximately HK$4.0 million to HK$9.7 million (31 December 2019:
approximately HK$5.7 million). Such increase was primarily attributable
to the government grants received by the Group of approximately
HK$3.7 million in relation to the Employment Support Scheme from the
Hong Kong government in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately 17.3%
from approximately HK$44.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 to approximately HK$36.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2020, due to the decrease in marketing consultancy fee, salaries related
to salesman and overseas travelling cost as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic situation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$5.6 million,
or 6.6% from approximately HK$83.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 to approximately HK$78.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2020, mainly due to the improvement on allocation and
control of internal resources.

Other expenses

Other expenses significantly increased by approximately HK$6.5 million
from approximately HK$0.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
to approximately HK$7.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2020,
mainly due to the increase in the impairment of trade receivables, foreign
exchange loss and the fair value loss on a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Finance costs

Finance costs consist of interest on bank loans and interest on
lease liabilities. Such costs decreased by approximately 12.9% from
approximately HK$2.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to
approximately HK$2.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2020,
mainly due to the lower interest rate in the market in 2020.

Listing expenses

The listing expenses comprise professional and other expenses in
relation to the listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 12 March 2020 (the
"Listing”). Listing expenses was approximately HK$10.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: approximately HK$11.0 million).

Taxation

Taxation expenses of the Group were calculated based on the
assessable profits of the subsidiaries at the rate prevailing in the
relevant jurisdictions. Taxation expenses significantly decreased by
approximately HK$8.3 million, or 72.5% from approximately HK$11.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately HK$3.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. Such decrease was mainly
due to the decrease in profit before tax for the year ended 31 December
2020.

Profit for the year

Reported profit the year decreased by approximately HK$24.9 million,
or 93.8% from approximately HK$26.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 to approximately HK$1.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2020. The decline was mainly due to decrease in revenue and
gross profit affected by the COVID-19 pandemic situation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Liquidity and capital resources

The net assets of the Group amounted to approximately HK$236.1
million as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: approximately
HK$144.0 million). The Group maintained a sound financial position
during the year ended 31 December 2020. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group had cash and bank balances of approximately HK$114.7 million
(31 December 2019: approximately HK$43.8 million). The cash and bank
balances increased by approximately HK$70.9 million, or 161.9%.

For the cash and bank balances, approximately HK$85.9 million was
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, approximately HK$20.5 million
was denominated in US Dollars, and approximately HK$4.9 million was
denominated in Renminbi. The Group's cash in US Dollars and Renminbi
was held to support its core operational needs.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$21.2 million (31 December 2019:
approximately HK$20.7 million) and aggregate banking facilities of
approximately HK$67.9 million, of which approximately HK$23.9 million
was utilised and approximately HK$44.0 million was unutilised. The
Group is not committed to draw down the unutilised amount.

The Group's certain lease liabilities are guaranteed by corporate
guarantees upon the Listing.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had property, plant and equipment
amounted to approximately HK$91.0 million (31 December 2019:
approximately HK$76.6 million). The property, plant and equipment
increased by approximately HK$14.4 million, or 18.8%, which was mainly
attributable to the acquisition of plant and machinery of approximately
HK$29.0 million during the year ended 31 December 2020. For further
strengthen the Group’s market position, increase its market share and
capture the growth in the global market after the Listing, the Group has
made additional investments in the machinery and equipment.

Beside the acquired property, plant and equipment, the Group
recognises a goodwill of approximately HK$1.5 million and an intangible
asset of approximately HK$0.3 million for further development through a
business combination in December 2020.

Current ratio

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$111.7 million, representing a significant increase of
approximately HK$70.2 million as compared to that of approximately
HK$41.5 million as at 31 December 2019. As a result, current ratio
improved to 2.1 times as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 1.4
times).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Gearing ratio

The Group's gearing ratio (dividing bank borrowings plus lease liabilities
by equity attributable to owners of the Company at year end date)
decreased from approximately 43.5% as at 31 December 2019 to
approximately 23.1% as at 31 December 2020. The decrease was mainly
due to the increase in equity attributable to owners of the Company.

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year.

The management of the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amounts and trade receivables by performing ongoing credit
assessments and monitoring prompt recovery and, if necessary, making
adequate impairment losses for irrecoverable amounts. In order to
achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funds, the Group's
treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally deposited with
leading licensed banks in Hong Kong and denominated in Hong Kong
dollars.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group currently does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge against the volatility associated with foreign currency transactions
and other financial assets and liabilities arising in the ordinary course of
business.

Permanent changes in foreign exchange rates would have an impact on
consolidated financial statements. The Board will closely monitor the
changes of the rate of exchange and government policies from time to
time.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(31 December 2019: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in this report, the Directors are not aware of any

significant events that requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2020, we had a total of 990 employees in all regions
(2019: 1,075).

The Company’s employee benefit expense (excluding directors’
remuneration), including salaries, bonuses and other employee’s
benefits, amounted to approximately HK$98.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: approximately HK$116.5
million). Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference
to market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are
normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other
relevant factors.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND DATE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend in cash
of HK0.075 cents per ordinary share for the financial year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: Nil). The final dividend is conditional upon the
passing of the relevant resolution at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “2021 AGM") to be held on Friday, 18 June 2021.

Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 18 June 2021 will be eligible to attend and vote
at the 2021 AGM. It is expected that the proposed final dividend, if
approved, will be paid on Friday, 9 July 2021 to shareholders whose
name appeared on the register of members on Friday, 25 June 2021.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the the prospectus of the Company (the
“Prospectus”) dated 28 February 2020 and this annual report, the Group
did not hold any significant investments in equity interest in any other
companies and had no definite future plans for material investments and
capital assets during the year.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's bank loans are
included in note 27 to the financial statements in this annual report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended 31

December 2020, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures. The corporate governance
principle of the Company emphasizes accountability and transparency
and is adopted in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders
(the “Shareholders”). In addition, the Company will strive to
continuously improve these practices and cultivate an ethical corporate
culture.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out on in the Code
of Corporate Governance (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). The
Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions in the CG
Code since 12 March 2020 (the “Listing Date"”) up to the date of this
report.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is composed of six Directors, of which three are executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (“Mr. Barry Chan”),
Ms. Law Miu Lan (“"Ms. Candy Law"”) and Mr. Chan Tsz Fung
("Mr. James Chan”), and three are independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong and Dr.
Wong Chi Wing. All the independent non-executive Directors have
appropriate professional qualifications, experience or related industry
expertise. Mr. Barry Chan, the Chairman, is the spouse of Ms. Candy
Law, the Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman provides leadership
and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the
Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s business
development and daily management and operations generally. The
Directors’ biography and relevant relationships amongst them are set
out in the Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profiles section under
Report of the Directors on pages 30 to 34 of this annual report. Save
as disclosed in this annual report, none of the members of the Board is
related to one another.

Review will be made regularly by the Board to ensure that it has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirement of the
Group. Also, a balanced composition of executive Directors is maintained
to ensure independence and effective management. The Company
has satisfied the Listing Rules in having one of the independent
non-executive Directors with appropriate accounting qualifications and
expertise to sit in the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”).

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and the
Listing Rules. Independent non-executive Directors are identified in all
corporate communications. An updated list of the Directors identifying
the independent non-executive Directors and the roles and functions
of the Directors is maintained on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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When selecting potential candidates for directors, skills, experience,
expertise, their devotion of time, potential conflicts of interests are key
factors of consideration. The nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) was set up to make recommendations to the Board on
the selection and nomination of candidates for directorship. Majority of
members of the Nomination Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is responsible for the
formulation of the Group's strategy, overseeing the management of
the business and affairs of the Group. The Board directly, and indirectly
through its committees, leads and provides direction to management by
laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors
the Group's operational and financial performance, and ensures that
sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.
The Board reserves its decision for all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Key and important decisions are fully discussed at the board meetings.
All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters proposed for
inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated the responsibility
for drawing up the agenda for each board meeting to the company
secretary of the Company (the “"Company Secretary”). With the
support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings and
receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Board meetings are scheduled to be held at regular intervals. The Board
would meet more frequently as and when required.

All the Directors are covered by the Director’'s & Officer’'s Liability
Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.

The attendance record of the Directors at the board meetings since the
Listing Date up to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Barry Chan RR B AR 5T A
Ms. Candy Law EYBL L
Mr. James Chan PRAF IS 55 &
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick MBS
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE
Dr. Wong Chi Wing FEKEL
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Notice of at least fourteen days is given to the Directors for regular
meetings, while Board papers are sent to the Directors not less than
three days before the scheduled date of a board or board committee
meeting. The Directors can attend meetings in persons or through other
means of electronic communication. The Company Secretary ensures
that the procedure and all applicable rules and regulations are strictly and
fully complied with. Minutes of board meetings and board committee
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are available for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

Directors have full access to information on the Group and are able to
obtain independent professional advice whenever necessary.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director will meet with other Directors and key
management executives, and will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. Subsequently,
he will receive briefings and other professional development necessary
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Company and he is fully aware of his responsibility with
the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Directors
are also invited to participate in the Company events to familiarize
themselves with the operations of the Company and create opportunity
to communicate with other management members of the Company.

The records of training as received by each Director for the year ended
31 December 2020 are summarized as follows:

Mr. Barry Chan R B AR 5T A
Ms. Candy Law BYBLL
Mr. James Chan PRI & 5 &
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick MEBEHEEE
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE
Dr. Wong Chi Wing FEEHT

A: reading materials relating to general business, regulatory updates on
the Listing Rules and board practices
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance functions as set out below:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(v) reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “"Model
Code"”). The Chairman of the Audit Committee is the person to be
notified for securities dealings by Directors and a designated form is
used for notification and acknowledgement purpose.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company,
their compliance with the required standards of dealings and its code
of conduct regarding the directors’ securities transaction since the
Listing Date up to the date of this report and there was no event of non-
compliance.

Senior management of the Company is also required to comply with the
guidelines on similar terms as set out in the Model Code. No incident of
non-compliance of the guidelines by the employees was noted by the
Company.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company places great importance on internal control and risk
management to safeguard the assets of the Company and the interests
of Shareholders. The Board has overall responsibility for the system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Audit Committee
assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities for maintaining an
effective system of internal control. The Audit Committee reviews the
process by which the Group evaluates its control environment and risk
assessment process, and the way in which business and control risks
are managed through the assistance of the Company’s Internal Control
Consultant.

The Internal Control Consultant assesses risk exposure, formulates audit
plan and ensures that the audit programs cover key internal control areas
of operating subsidiaries on a rotational basis for the review by the Audit
Committee.

The Internal Control Consultant reports her findings and recommendations
to management of the Company and the Audit Committee. The Internal
Control Consultant also monitors the follow- up actions agreed upon in
response to her recommendations and reports to the Audit Committee the
progress of implementation of those recommendations.

With the assistance of the Audit Committee and the Company’s Internal
Control Consultant, the Board is satisfied that the overall financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management of the Group
continues to be effective.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group. The Directors ensure that the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 41 to 46 of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the auditors of the Company
received approximately HK$2,152,000 (2019: HK$1,611,000) for their
audit service. Non-audit service which covered taxation service provided
to the Group was approximately HK$226,000 (2019: HK$608,000) in the
same year.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee (the “"Remuneration Committee”)
comprises two Independent Non-executive Directors and one executive
Director. They are Mr. Lee Tak Cheong (Committee Chairman), Dr. Wong
Chi Wing and Ms. Candy Law. The Committee's authority and duties are
set out in written terms of reference which are posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and the
senior management were reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.
Remuneration, includes basic salary and performance bonus. Annual
salary adjustment and performance bonus are subject to review and
approval by the Remuneration Committee.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Chairman, the executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company, the remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met twice since the Listing Date up to the
date of this with a 100% attendance by all committee members.

During the year, the works performed by the Remuneration Committee
included the following:

— the review of the performance and remuneration packages of
directors and senior management; and

— the review of the remuneration policy of the Group.
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors, Mr.
Barry Chan (Committee Chairman) and Mr. James Chan and three
independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Wong Chi Wing, Mr. Lee Tak
Cheong and Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick. The defined terms of reference of the
Committee are set out in writing and are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendation
to the Board for selection and nomination of directors, and the
succession planning of directors and senior management. The
Nomination Committee also reviews the size, structure and composition
of the Board with reference to the Company's board diversity policy and
assesses the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee met twice since the Listing Date and up

to the date of this report with a 100% attendance by all committee
members.
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During the year, the works performed by the Nomination Committee
included the following:

— the recommendation of the retiring directors for re-election at the
annual general meeting (the "AGM");

— the review of composition of the Board; and

— the assessment of independence of the independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Board adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board to enhance
quality of its performance. The policy aims to achieve diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors including but not being
limited to skills, regional and industry experience, background, age,
race, gender and other qualities. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments are based on merit, in the content of the talents, skills and
experience, and taking into account diversity.

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the composition of
the Board under diversified perspective, and monitor the implementation
of this policy to ensure its effectiveness. It will discuss any revisions
that may be required and recommend such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination Policy")
which sets out the selection criteria and process in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that
the Board members have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group's business.
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The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability
and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate,
including but not limited to the following:

e Reputation for integrity;

e Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business and
industry;

e Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

e Compliance with the criteria of independence, in case for the
appointment of an independent non-executive director, as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange;

e Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; and

e Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Nomination
Committee or the Board from time to time as appropriate.

The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedure for the selection and
appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at general
meetings.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors. They are Dr. Wong Chi Wing (Committee Chairman), Mr. Lee
Tak Cheong and Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick. The defined terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are set out in writing and are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
effectiveness of Company’s internal control and the Company’s internal
audit function, risk management system and regulatory compliance, the
review of the Company’s financial information and compliance, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditor and assessing its independence and performance.
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Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, the Audit
Committee held four meetings and the attendance record are as follows:

Dr. Wong Chi Wing TELEL
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick IS A

The works performed by the Audit Committee during the year included
the following:

— reviewing with the auditor on key audit and accounting matters, and
updates on regulatory rules in the auditor's Audit Committee Report
and the draft audited financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2020

— reviewing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020 focusing on business highlights, any change of accounting
policies and practices, and compliance with accounting standards
and Listing Rules requirements

— reviewing with the auditor the scope of their audit, their
communication plan, their independence, developments affecting
the Company's business, their risk assessment and updates of
accounting standards and Listing Rules as affecting the Company for
the financial year ended 31 December 2020

— reviewing the audit plan, audit progress report and significant audit
findings with management at all committee meetings

— reviewing with management on implementation of the recommendations
on internal control made by the Internal Control Consultant

— reviewing the risk management and internal control of the Group

The Committee is satisfied with the review of the work of external
auditors, their audit fees, results of their audits and has recommended
to the Board their re-appointment for the financial year ending on 31
December 2021 at the 2021 AGM.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Group and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs. During the financial year
ended 31 December 2020, the Company Secretary has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules which requires the Company Secretary to take no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The biographical details of
the Company Secretary are set out in the section of “DIRECTORS" AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S PROFILES" in this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders. A decision to declare and pay any dividends would
require the approval of the Board and will be at their discretion. The
Board may from time to time determine and pay to the Shareholders
such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The Board may
recommend the payment of final dividends which are required to be
approved by the Shareholders in general meetings.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognizes the importance of communication with the
Shareholders, both individual and institutional as well as potential
investors. The Company adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy
with an aim of ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with timely
information about the Company and enabling them to engage actively
with the Company and to exercise their rights in an informed manner.

The AGM also provides a good opportunity for communication between
the Board and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of the respective Committees as well as the external auditors
are normally present to answer questions as raised by the Shareholders.
Notice of the AGM and the related circular are sent to the Shareholders
at least 20 clear business days before the meeting.

Votes of the Shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Detailed procedures for conducting a
poll will be explained to the Shareholders at the beginning of the general
meeting to ensure that the Shareholders are familiar with the voting
procedures. Each issue will be proposed by a separate resolution by the
Chairman of the general meeting. The poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day of
the general meeting. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").

Procedures and right for the Shareholders to convene EGM

— An EGM shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the
“Eligible Shareholder(s)"”) having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition.
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— The requisition must state clearly the names of the Eligible
Shareholders concerned, specify the objects of the meeting, and
be signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned. The Eligible
Shareholders must prove their shareholdings in the Company to the
satisfaction of the Company.

— The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements
under the amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) to all
the registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has
been verified as not in order or the Shareholders concerned have
failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses
for the said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be
advised of this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for
an EGM.

— If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Law (Revised) of Cayman
Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may by means of requisition convene an
EGM.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by the Shareholders can be sent
in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office. Shareholders are encouraged to access to the
Company website at http://www.cirtek.com for all relevant information
including Company’'s announcements, press releases, financial
highlights, the Company’s constitutional documents and detailed
procedures for the Shareholders to convene meetings.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has a proactive policy for promoting investor relations and
communications by maintaining a regular dialogue with investors and
other stakeholders. The Company’s website at http://www.cirtek.com
also features a dedicated Investor Relations section to facilitate
communication with the Shareholders and investors. Corporate
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information are
made available electronically and in a timely manner.

Save for the adoption of the Articles of Association upon the Listing,
since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, there
had been no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company. The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company during the year was investment
holding.

The principal activities of the Group during the year were manufacture
and sale of apparel products, such as hang tags, woven labels, printed
labels and heat transfer products. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and review in the business activities of the Group, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
and an indication of the likely future development of the Group's
business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 6 and pages
7 to 14 of this annual report, respectively. Certain key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group's environment policies and
performance and its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations,
and an account of the Group's relationship with its key stakeholders are
included in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The Company
will also publish its standalone Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2020 on the websites of the
Stock Exchange in due course. These discussions form part of this
“Report of the Directors”.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 39 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year and the Company’s and the Group’s
financial positions at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 47 to 144.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, a special dividend of HK$10
million was declared by the Company and the same was paid to the then
shareholders in February 2020 prior to the Listing.

The proposed final dividend in respect of 2020 of HK0.075 cents per
ordinary share or approximately HK$1.5 million has been proposed by
the Directors and is subject to approval by the Shareholders in the 2021
AGM.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'’S INITIAL PUBLIC
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Listing, net of underwriting commission
in respect of the offering and other relevant expenses, amounted to
approximately HK$69.9 million.

The proceeds were only available to the Group upon the Listing Date, the
use of the net proceeds from the Listing Date to 31 December 2020 was
as follows:

HK$'000
FTET
Construction of the New Bangladesh Factory 98.4% 68,800
and Purchasing Machinery for the
New Bangladesh Factory
BENMRINARE kAN ANALREREE#SE
General Working Capital 1.6% 1,100
—MREEES
Total 100% 69,900
@t

As of the date of this annual report, the Board is aware that there has
been a delay in the use of proceeds from the Listing when compared to
the implementation plan as disclosed in the Prospectus. The delay in use
of proceeds is because of the outbreak of COVID-19, the construction of
the new Bangladesh factory delayed to start in October 2020 and expect
to complete the construction work within 365 calendar days from the
commencement date of the construction.

Save for the delay in use of proceeds, up to 31 December 2020, the
Group had used the net proceeds as originally intended.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group's financial information for the last five financial
years is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the year are
set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors are interested in any business apart from the
Group's business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company did not have any connected transactions which were
subject to the requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the year. The related party transactions are disclosed in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which could oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and in note 31 to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution to the Shareholders (31 December 2019: Nil), calculated in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the
amount of HK$0.3 million may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
15 June 2021 to Friday, 18 June 2021 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the 2021 AGM, all properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 11 June 2021.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
24 June 2021 to Friday, 25 June 2021 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 23 June 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 18.6% (2019: 21.6%) of the total sales for
the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
12.0% (2019: 11.0%). Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 10.7% (2019: 9.8%) of the total purchases
for the year and purchase from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to 3.7% (2019: 3.0%).

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5%
of the Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Ms. Law Miu Lan

Mr. Chan Tsz Fung

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick

Mr. Lee Tak Cheong

Dr. Wong Chi Wing
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In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, one-third
of the directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third,
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring director shall be
eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at which a
director retires may fill the vacated office.

Each of Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick and Dr. Wong Chi Wing will retire at the
2021 AGM and all of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the 2021 AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong and Dr. Wong Chi Wing, and
as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S PROFILES
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (FRE285), aged 61, being one of our
Controlling Shareholders and Chairman of our Board, was appointed as
our managing director in February 1992 and appointed as our Director
on 25 January 2019 and re-designated as our executive Director on
21 February 2020. Mr. Barry Chan is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Barry Chan is responsible for our Group's overall management,
corporate development and strategic planning. He obtained a higher
certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in
November 1984.

Mr. Barry Chan has over 39 years of experience in the apparel labels
and trim products manufacturing industry. Mr. Barry Chan is the spouse
of Ms. Candy Law and the father of Mr. James Chan, who are both our
executive Directors.

Ms. Law Miu Lan (£¥#), aged 58, being one of our Controlling
Shareholders, was appointed as our assistant managing director in
September 1994, our Chief Executive Officer and Director on 17
May 2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 21
February 2020. Ms. Candy Law is responsible for our Group's overall
management, operation and strategic planning. She obtained a higher
certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in
November 1984.

Ms. Candy Law has over 36 years of experience in the apparel labels and
trim products manufacturing industry. Ms. Candy Law is the spouse of
Mr. Barry Chan and the mother of Mr. James Chan, who are both our
executive Directors.
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Mr. Chan Tsz Fung (BR#¥1£), aged 31, joined our Group in October
2013 as an operations assistant and is currently a product development
manager of Charming Printing Limited, a subsidiary of the Group
(“Charming Printing”). He was appointed as our Director on 17 May
2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 21 February
2020. Mr. James Chan is also a member of the Nomination Committee
and director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. James Chan
has over five years of experience in the apparel labels and trim products
manufacturing industry. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the
product development, marketing and strategic planning of our Group,
in particular our Group's sales and marketing activities in Europe. He
studied diploma of engineering at Deakin University from February 2011
to February 2012. He is the son of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law,
our executive Directors.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick (## ), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020 and is currently
a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. He graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist University
with a bachelor’'s degree in business administration in November 1990.
He then obtained the master of arts in electronic business from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2003.

From July 1990 to October 2000, Mr. Lam held various accounting and
finance positions in a number of companies including AIA Group Limited,
Inchcape Marketing Ltd., LeaRonal (S.E.Asia) Ltd., Elite Business
Machines Mfg. Co. Ltd., Dong Ying Computer Label & Embroidery
Company Limited and AFG Company Limited. From November 2000
to January 2005, Mr. Lam served as a financial controller at Lexmark
International (China) Co., Ltd., a company principally engages in the
provision of printing and imaging products and software solutions
services. From January 2005 to December 2005, he worked as a financial
controller at Fellowes Consulting LLC Dongguan Representative Office,
a company principally manufactures paper shredders. From January
2006 to November 2008, Mr. Lam worked as a director at Electrical
Components International Inc., a company principally manufactures
wire harness, with his last position being a finance and administrative
director and was the director of business administration at ECI (Huizhou).
From December 2008 to October 2010, Mr. Lam served as an operation
controller at Shakespeare (Hong Kong) Ltd., a company principally
manufactures sports hardware. From November 2010 to January 2012,
he served as a consultant at Resources Global Professionals (HK)
Limited, a consultancy firm. Mr. Lam has served as a vice president of
the asian operation department in ECI (Huizhou) since February 2012.
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Mr. Lee Tak Cheong (Z#&8&), aged 50, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020 and is currently
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’'s degree
in engineering in November 1993. He then obtained a postgraduate
diploma in quality management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2000. In December 2003, Mr. Lee obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong.

From April 2004 to December 2007, Mr. Lee worked as a general
manager overseeing factory management at Mansfield Manufacturing
Co. Ltd., a company primarily engaged in metal stamping business.
From December 2007 to June 2009, he served as a general manager at
Top Link Industrial Co. Ltd., a company primarily manufactures electric
powered tools. From September 2009 to August 2014, Mr. Lee started
working as a general manager at Charming Printing and was promoted
as an operational director in April 2012. From October 2014 to the
present, Mr. Lee has been serving as a director overseeing the business
management at Dreamcubics 3D Printing Limited, a company primarily
sells 3D printers and provides 3D printing service.

Dr. Wong Chi Wing (E£7% %), aged 57, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020 and is
currently the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. He graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with
a bachelor’s degree in science in December 1986. In addition, Dr. Wong
obtained (i) a master’'s degree in business administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 1995; (ii) a master's degree of
science in electronic commerce from the City University of Hong Kong in
November 2003; and (iii) a doctorate degree in business administration
from the City University of Hong Kong in February 2011. Dr. Wong has
been a fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(formerly known as Hong Kong Society of Accountants) since July 2000.

From May 2002 to March 2007, Dr. Wong served as a vice president
at PCCW Solutions (formerly known as Unihub Limited), a company
primarily engages in the provision of information technology services.
From May 2010 to August 2014, Dr. Wong was the managing director
at Accenture Consulting for Greater China, a company primarily provides
management consulting and strategy expertise services. Since March
2015, Dr. Wong has served as a managing partner at Big Data Elite
Asia Limited and GCE Consulting Limited, both of which are consulting
companies, primarily providing advisory and training services in relation
to big data, digital transformation, FinTech and strategic management.
From July 2016 to July 2020, Dr. Wong served as an independent non-
executive director at Autotoll Limited, a company primarily provides
electronic toll clearing facilities in Hong Kong. From September 2018
to June 2020, he served as an independent non-executive director at
Veson Holdings Limited (Formerly “SCUD Group Limited”), a company
listed on the Main Board (Stock code: 1399) of the Stock Exchange
which primarily manufactures and sells lithium-ion battery products. Dr.
Wong also serves as the Deputy President, Chairman of New Economy
Committee of The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association Limited since October 2019.
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Senior Management

Mr. Chew Yong Hock ([E%18), aged 62, was appointed as the sales and
marketing director of Charming Printing in July 2012. Mr. Chew obtained
a higher stage certificate in salesmanship and sales management from
The London Chamber of Commerce and Industry in spring 1984. Mr.
Chew has more than 29 years of experience in the apparel labels and trim
products manufacturing industry.

Mr. Lau Kok Sheng Stephen (2|ElF), aged 52, was appointed as Chief
Operation Officer of Charming Printing Ltd in August 2020. Mr. Lau
studied at University of Houston from 1993 — 1995. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Lau worked as machine operator, planner, scheduler and
production manager at A.\W. Printing located in Houston, TX, managed
primarily production for tags & labels business, A.W. Printing was
acquired by Checkpoint Systems in the year of 2000. In 2008, Checkpoint
Systems relocated Mr. Lau from Houston to Hong Kong to oversee the
apparel labelling division operations in Hong Kong and China, Mr. Lau
engaged in several restructure projects as well as the Shore to Shore
Far East acquisition from 2009 to 2012. In 2013 to 2017, Mr. Lau joined
Britannia Garment Packaging Ltd as General Manager, he setup the
footprints for Britannia Garment Packaging in Hong Kong and China,
for both trading, manufacturing & joint venture operations. In 2017 to
2020, Mr. Lau joined Talon Hong Kong Ltd as Director of Operations,
responsible for the operations of trim division, Mr. Lau established the
Vietnam trims supply chain for Talon.

Mr. Fung Hong Keung (5E23&), aged 58, was appointed as Chief Financial
Officer of Charming Printing in February 2021. From 1992 to 2011, Mr.
Fung held various financial position in a number of companies including
Integrated Display Technology Limited, a subsidiary of IDT International
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 167)), Sanmina-SCI (China) Limited, a subsidiary of Sanmina-
SCI (NASDAQ stock code: SANM) and a subsidiary of Fountain Set
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 420). During the period from 2011 to
2012, Mr Fung worked as the Chief corporate service officer of &£/&E /7
(RN FEAAB R A A, a subsidiary of the Hong Kong Productivity Council.
From 2012 to 2016, Mr Fung worked as executive director, chief financial
officer, company secretary at eprint Group Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:1884), which
primarily engaged in supplying online printing services and customized
printed products. From 2017 to 2020, Mr Fung worked as chief financial
officer at Tung Chit Tobacco (H.K) Company Limited, a subsidiary of
Tung Chit Group Limited, which primarily engaged in distribution and
manufacturing of PRC-branded cigarettes.

Mr. Fung obtained a bachelor degree of arts in accountancy from the
Bolton University of Higher Education in the United Kingdom in October
2003, and a graduate diploma in China marketing and e-business from
the University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing
Education in November 2004. He has been a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since December 2004, a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
January 2005, and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
since January 2013.
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Mr. Richard Phillip Ringeisen, aged 62, was appointed as the president
of Charming US in February 2011 and is the director of Charming US.
Mr. Ringeisen studied at the Western Michigan University from 1979
to 1980. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ringeisen worked as a western
region sales manager at US Label Corporation, a company primarily
sells and markets apparel identification products, from 1999 to 2001.
Mr. Ringeisen worked as a sales manager in the western region of the
United States at Alkahn Labels Inc, a company primarily engaged in the
sales business, from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Ringeisen then worked as a vice
president at 28 Packaging Inc, a company primarily engaged in the sales
and marketing business from 2003 to 2008. He later worked as a vice
president at Integra Trim, a company primarily engaged in the sales and
marketing business from 2008 to 2010 where he was responsible for
overseeing and managing the sales business of the company.

Mr. Liao Wenwei (BE31{&), aged 52, was appointed as the general
manager of Charming China in August 2009. He obtained a diploma in
business administration from the Huizhou University in July 1997. From
April 1992 to July 2000, Mr. Liao worked as a salesman at Huizhou
Jiangbei Building Material Company* (£JNTTIL&EM A F]), a company
primarily engaged in the trading business, with his last position being a
manager. Mr. Liao then worked as a factory manager at Boluo County
Shiwan Chuangmei Printing Factory* ({7 & A& 8|3 ENFIK) from
August 2000 to July 2009.

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Wai Shing Kevin (FR{£FX), aged 46, was appointed as the
finance and accounts manager of Charming Printing in February 2016 and
the company secretary on 17 May 2019. Mr. Chan obtained a diploma
in accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University (formerly known
as Shue Yan College) in July 1998. He was then awarded a diploma in
operating business in China and a diploma in professional management
for China business from the City University of Hong Kong in April 2004
and October 2004, respectively. Mr. Chan has been a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since August
2008 and a member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administration since February 2010.

In view of Mr. Chan's experience in legal and company secretarial
functions and with stock exchange rules and regulations, our Directors
believe that Mr. Chan has the appropriate expertise for the purposes of
Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determined by the Company

within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the provisions
of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

A. Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporations

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares of
the Company (“Shares”), underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed
to have taken, under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the "Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:
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Barry Chan The Company Interest in a controlled
corporation (Note 1) (Note 2)
FREEEA NG REHEE R
(Hist1)(HiaE2)
Charming International Limited Beneficial owner
(“Charming International”)
Charming International Limited ~ Ez%H A
(TCharming International |)
Candy Law The Company Interest in a controlled
corporation (Note 1) (Note 2)
3| ¥ UNG| Rt AR R
(Hizt1)(Hst2)
Charming International Beneficial owner
ERBEA
James Chan - Beneficial owner
PRAFIE ExEAA
Notes: Hiat -
1. Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of the issued 1.

share capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds 1,404,000,000 Shares.
Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law are deemed to be interested in
1,404,000,000 Shares held by Charming International by virtue of the disclosure

requirements of the SFO.

2. Mr. Barry Chan is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law. Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. 28
Candy Law are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other by virtue of

the SFO.
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B. Substantial shareholders’ and other persons’ interests and/or
short positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the
Company

As at the date of this report, the following persons (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) have interests of
5% or more in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Charming International Beneficial interest (Note)
Eamikn (M)

Note:

Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of the issued share
capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds 1,404,000,000 Shares. Accordingly,
Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law are deemed to be interested in 1,404,000,000 Shares
held by Charming International by virtue of the disclosure requirements of the SFO.

As at the date of this report, no person, other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and/
or short positions in Shares and underlying shares of the Company”
above, had registered an interest or a short position in the Shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved and adopted
by the Company on 21 February 2020. The purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant options to selected participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

FTERRREMATRADTRD REERD
ZREBR kR

RAZRERH  UTAL(RRREZEEHTE
TTBRABBRINRAR B M RBRERD %
BRARRBRER 7 LB GRPI5E33615E
B2 ERERM25%NA LR

1,404,000,000 70.2%

Hfat

TR B2 B %% 4 I 7 %0 W %2 + % B # A Charming International
B 1T A 51% & 49% - ifi Charming International 8l #
45 1,404,000,000 R Ax 17 o Bt - RIFEFH KB E KO &
WERTE @ REPALEREY B Z L HWAR AR Charming
International#% 75 &91,404,000,000 % % {7 o # 5 #E 25 -
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The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up
options to subscribe for Shares under the Scheme: (a) any employee
or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time and including any
executive Director), consultants or advisers of, or, to the Company, any
of the subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity") in which the
Company holds an equity interest (collectively, the Company, any of
the subsidiaries or the Invested Entity are referred to as the “Relevant
Parties”); (b) any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) of, any supplier of goods or services to,
any customer of and any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to, the Relevant Parties; and
(c) any Shareholders or any shareholder of any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by the Relevant
Parties. For the purposes of the Scheme, the options may be granted to
any company wholly-owned by one or more persons belonging to any of
the above classes of participants.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time. No options may be granted under any schemes of the Company or
the subsidiary of the Company if such grant will result in the maximum
number being exceeded. The total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issue (i.e. 200,000,000 Shares as at the date of
this annual report). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme or any other schemes will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the 10% limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted under Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
then in issue. Any further grant of the options in excess of this limit is
subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. Each grant of
option under the Scheme to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any
grant of option under the Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from the
date of the grant of the option. The Directors may, at their absolute
discretion, fix any minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other conditions that
must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised upon the grant of an
option to a participant.
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The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option granted under
the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet for the five business
days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option (which must be a business day (as defined in the
Listing Rules)); (ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day (as defined in the Listing Rules)); and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
on acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option.

The Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the
Listing Date.

On 15 September 2020, the Company granted share options with the
rights to subscribe for up to a total of 2,000,000 Shares to one of our
senior management entitled under the Scheme. The details are set out in
note 30 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by or subsisted in the Company, and there was no provision
to enter into any agreement which will or may result in the Company
issuing shares during the year.

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company or chief executives or any of their spouse or children under the
age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

INTEREST OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

In accordance with Rule 3A.19 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed Elstone Capital Limited (“Elstone”) as the compliance adviser.
As notified by Elstone, compliance adviser of our Company, neither
Elstone nor any of its close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
and none of the directors or employees of Elstone had any interests in
the share capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including
options or rights to subscribe for such securities, if any) which is required
to be notified to the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules as at the date
of this report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS
The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020. A resolution for their

reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the 2021
AGM.

By Order of the Board
Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Cirtek Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cirtek
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 47 to 144, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
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statements.

Key audit matter
BERENSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 2 BUGRRRNBER G

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded trade
receivables of approximately HK$36,889,000 before
impairment of HK$165,000. Under HKFRS 9, the Group
accounted for the impairment on trade receivables with an
expected credit loss (“"ECL") approach. The measurement
on the Group's trade receivables under the ECL approach
was estimated by management through the application of
judgements and use of highly subjective assumptions. The
impact of current economic factors, and forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors were also considered in
management’s assessment of the likelihood of recovery from
customers.

72020124318+ BEEHBE S RIS 36,889,000
78 7T (#BR 165,00078 ST HYRERT)  RIBF B M B @mELERAE9
5% - ESRBENESREEEE(THREEBED EKESEK
RIEREARK - AEMEEEESAE BXEZEZEKFIE
THEREFEBERAE RS EFBRBELMGE - ERERK
Bl% 5 FIEM Al M ATERT AR E Z B BRI BERE RN B AR
EBANERELEE -

Due to the significance of trade receivables and the application
of significant judgement and estimates, we considered it as a
key audit matter.

HRESREFIEEEX - BERAERAE Rt REER
RERBAEETEE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BRARBE RN AR A B IS MR M4 5 20 -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
TENENMEEBERENSE

Our audit procedures included assessing the controls
over the monitoring of trade receivables; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group
in calculating the ECLs; understanding and discussing with
management for judgement used under the ECL approach;
assessing historical loss pattern and reviewing subsequent
settlements after the year end; and assessing the current
economic condition and forward-looking information by
checking to the economic indicators.
EENEAEFEETRERE S BUGRIAMNEZEE : &
2 BEEERAEEHGEEEEREANSE  BAEKM
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BERENSE

Provision for inventories

FERE

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded inventories of
approximately HK$52,943,000 and write-down of inventories
to net realisable value of HK$1,466,000 was recognised during
the year. The write-down of inventories to net realisable value
was estimated by management through the application of
judgement and the use of highly subjective assumptions, such
as the estimated selling price.

34‘2020@512)%31 H - &E&EESEFEL52,943,00087T @ I

RERNERTEMRZE ] #IRF$E1,466,000/8 7T - FEMRE
EI%EE%TEEEE BEAFBERBABESEFBERRMEL MG
(AnfhETHEBRK) -

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BRBBEHNGAMBHERERMF4R19 -

BRESFSEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENETNMEEERETEE

Our audit procedures included obtaining an understanding of
management’s controls over identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory items
whose costs may not be fully recoverable; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group
in calculating the provision; assessing the inventory provision
by reviewing subsequent sales and usage after the year end
and checking the latest selling price; and observing physical
condition of inventories by performing physical inventory
inspection.

EENENRETFERERERBEYNEFIRE - 812 FiH -
BREREAT—EA 2B BN EMFERE R ETEE
WERRE T ESBERGEREBRAARE BABER
B BRNFREEMNERHEERERBERTEFE %ﬁ&
BERIMAEEER  URBRETEYFERSEREFE
BEHMR

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

FIRPTEA E b E R

ENRIERAHHEMEREESE - HMER B
ERTPFBSNEL  BETEEEAMBRERE
SRt B H O RBET RS -

EEUGEAVBRRFENEAL NREEME
Bt BEFE AU BEREAT AR ER

RERGREMBHRERMS  BaFNEELMHERM
A EBRTEREMENE DRSS ﬁﬁ&i&
REEBESENEZBREPRBNENFEEATN
ﬁw?ﬁﬁéﬁﬁa&ﬁ?u g 1h%%%§5’\ﬁmﬁﬂ’]
TERREMERFESEASERRML - %%ZE#&%
ZEE c BEERMWEEMERRRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2021
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020512A31HIEFE

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Finance costs

Listing expenses

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expenses

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY
— Basic

— Diluted

i
SHERA

EH

HAb Y A K e 28
HERDHFX
TR
HoAth B 32
BB
EWRX

BRBLATEF
FRIS BRI

FRIEF
AT ALRES

ZAYNEIE/ 2PN
IR RE

RRBEAAREEREF

— &R

— g

2019

20194

Notes HK$'000
=g FHET

6 62,7

(178,168)

174,769

6 5,701
(44,053)

(83,808)

(928)

8 (2,735)
7 (11,030)

7 37,916
11 (11,434)

26,482

25,331
1,151

26,482

HK cents
AL

13 1.69
HK cents

il
1.69
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020512A31HIEFE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Other comprehensive income that
may be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations, net

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Cirtek Holdings Limited © 2020 Annual Report

FRHF
Hfth 2 [E Wi

R BEET BN HAE
R RS e X
FE 36 248 -
REEIN R
I 58 245 88
R E RS
AT AR :

ARRERA
TR R

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET

26,482

772

27,254

26,178
1,076

27,254



As at 31 December 2020
A2020512A31H

2019
20194
Notes HK$'000
B EE FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEKREE 14 76,559
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 58,486
Prepayments and deposits AR kRS 21 1,307
Goodwill (EES 16 =
Other intangible assets EmErEE 17 =
Financial asset at fair value BAFEFABRD
through profit or loss TMEE 18 -
Deferred tax assets BERIEE E 28 -
Total non-current assets EmEEELE 136,352
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories T8 19 44,565
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 20 48,327
Prepayments, deposits and TR -« Re &k
other receivables A FEUGRIR 21 12,972
Due from the ultimate holding company  FEU & %45 R% A Bl A 22 22
Due from a director fEU — %§$ 23 290
Cash and cash equivalents ﬁﬁ&ﬁ@%ﬁ% 24 43,807
Tax recoverable AT el 7 18 65
Total current assets MENEERE 150,048
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Trade payables B 5 et F0E 25 35,381
Other payables and accruals H {th FE £t AIE&JE &R 26 32,5657
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5 ,%EE/‘ME K 27 18,257
Due to directors Bt EERIE 23 403
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 11,626
Tax payable FERTTRIE 10,353
Total current liabilities mENBEREE 108,577
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 41,471
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEAERRBARE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 177,823
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables H b e 508 26 841
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T BERITIER 27 2,469
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 30,209
Deferred tax liabilities FEFTEAE 28 334
Total non-current liabilities SERB B EERE 33,853
Net assets EEFE 143,970
EQUITY ﬁgn’é
Equity attributable to owners of NATEE AELERE
the Company
Share capital A% A 29 —*
Reserves == 31 143,970
Total equity e AR5 143,970
@ Less than HK$500 * L5007 TT
CHAN Sing Ming Barry [REZEA LAW Miu Lan ZE¥#
Chairman and Executive Director Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
FEFENTEE TTHABRFNTESE
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Year ended 31 December 2020

HE2020F12A31BHILFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL T Thr ThL T T Thr ThL T
(note 29)  (note 31(c)  (note 31(al)  (note 30)  (note 31(b))
(329)  (BaE3tic))  (WEE3TM))  (HEEES0)  (B&E31(b))
At 1 January 2019 201951 A1 - - 2920 - (6,373) 116215 112762 3954 116716
Profit for the year Emgfl - - = S = 25,331 25,331 1,151 26,482
Other comprehensive EREp2ENE
income for the year
Exchange differences on HEBNEBELD
translation of foreign EiES
operations - - - - 847 - 847 (75) 1
Total comprehensive income for ~ ERZENHEE
the year - - - - 847 25,331 26,178 1,076 27,254
Issue of a new share upon EMRLARREET
incorporation of the Company ~ 1R&THA = = = - - - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries under R EEANE KFEHI
common control pursuant HEAR
to the Reorganisation - 201488 (196,458) - - - 5,030 (5,030) -
At 31 December 2019 and R2019F12A31B R
1 January 2020 2020F1A18
Profit for the year EmgHl
Other comprehensive EREt2ERR
income for the year
Exchange differences on AERIEREED
translation of foreign EiES
operations

Total comprehensive income for ~ ERZEKHEE
the year

Issue of new shares pursuantto  REEA{LETHRA
the capitalisation (note 29(c)) (Bir&E29(c)
New shares issued pursuantto ~ RERHZEXTHRA

the share offer (note 29(d)) (F3E29(d))
Share issuance cost BEI
Equity ssttled share option haggBRER

arrangement (note 30) (Hi3£30)
Special dividend (note 12) RIS (M 12)
At 31 December 2020 120206127318

@ These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$216,126,000 (2019: @ REAMBMRNE @ ZS5REEREEFEA 216,126,000

HK$143,970,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 70(20194F : 143,970,000/ 7T) °
8 Less than HK$500 # L R500/8 7T
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Year ended 31 December 2020

HE2020F12A31BLFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment, net
Loss on disposal of items of
right-of-use assets
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use
assets, net
Fair value loss on a financial asset
through profit or loss at fair value
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Impairment losses on trade receivables

Provision for inventories
Equity-settled share option expense
Amortisation of a government grant

Increase in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in an amount due to

the ultimate holding company
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables
Decrease in other payables

and accruals

Cash generated from operations

Purchase of a financial asset at

fair value through profit or loss
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Overseas taxes paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Interest received

Purchases of items of property, plant
and equipment, including a related
prepayment

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Acquisition of a business

Payment to acquire right-of-use assets

Proceeds from disposal of items of
right-of-use assets

Repayment from a director

Notes
B 3E
KETHzHERE
R 250 B e A
AT EIEELFHE
A& A A 8
FEUA 6
HEWZE - BE &R
IH A W F R 7
PEFRAELEERBNER
7
% - BERZETE
7
K LERERE ﬁ%%ﬁﬁm
ol 7
Eﬁiﬁﬁkﬁ
PREEZA $EEE 7
TREEERE 7
B 5 W IBRREE R 7
FERE 7
IR 7 4 & B AR Bl <2
AT 70 Bh 8 84
EEIE

B 5 RUGRIER D, ($5h0)
BRTA © 28 kAR
IR, ()
ﬂifTﬁiiﬂiﬁ UNCIE/ ]
B, (Eh0)
E%%H%E%M/@Wﬁ
HAb N RIERER B R D

BEEATEFABED
DRLEE

ENEBFEHR

BAIESNTE

REBPFEREREFHR
REFHHERE
EUAE

BEMZE - BENMEREEE
(BE—IARBENRE)

HEME  BERRERR
BRI 1S 5kIR

W —E 2T

Y 8 R B EE 5IR

W REAEER
HIFTS 3R

—REEER

Net cash flows used in investing activities & & EBFFAR M2 F5E

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET

(11,072)

87

72
796

(10,110)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERETRBR

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020512A31HIEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares,
net of expenses

New bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Interest paid

Principal portion of lease payments

Dividend paid

Repayment to directors

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing
activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Time deposits

Cirtek Holdings Limited © 2020 Annual Report

BMEFH2RHERE

BT BV PTIS RRIR
(FnERFASZ)
FTIBIRITE R
EERITER
ENFE
HENFOASED
EfERE
MEEER

MEEREFE(FTA)
REMEFR

RERREEEY
B h0FER
FNRELBAEEFEY

RSB EFER

ERBERBELEEY

RERRSEBEMERDMN

B RIRITHEER
ERER

Notes
B 3E

24
24

2019
20194

HK$'000

THETT

20,320

(28,549)

20,935
22,958

(86)

43,807

43,807

43,807



31 December 2020
2020 12H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company is PO
Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at 1/F, Wing Ming Industrial Centre, 15 Cheung Yue Street,
Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

On 12 March 2020, the shares of the Company were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Group's subsidiaries were principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sale of printing products.

Charming International Limited (“Charming International”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI") on 2
January 2019, is the immediate holding company of the Company,
and, in the opinion of the Directors, is also the ultimate holding
company of the Company.

1.

RNEAREEER

RARABRRAEHSEMEINEBRAF °
N A A ) o 3 R 4k & PO Box 1350,
Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands - "R G T B
FBRBEBNESHXARBE GG KA IS
FRAE o

R2020%F3R128 » ARBIRMREBH AR
ZRARAR (MM DERLET -

RRFR—REREZERATE - RER - AEH
BB AREENEEERHENRIER -

Charming International Limited ([ Charming
International | + —fEM 20191 A28 &R &
BEHS([EBELHS MK B RF])
RARNTNEEERAT  EFRA/Z AT
RAR AR AR A E] ©
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI T

31 December 2020
2020 12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)
Information of subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Charming Printing Limited Hong Kong
EXHRIBARAR BE

Charming Printing (Boluo) Ltd. (note (a)) ~ People’s Republic of
BEZFEHRER R (M) China ("PRC")
mEARLME ([HE])
Charming Trim & Packaging (VN) Co., Ltd ~ Vietnam
e

Charming Trim & Packaging Company Hong Kong
Limited BE

Charming Trim & Packaging (BD) Ltd Bangladesh

EYIE
Charming Trim (BD) Co. Ltd Bangladesh

2y 14
Charming Trim India Private Limited India

HE

Charming Trim & Packaging (PVT.) Limited Pakistan
BEHEDE

54 Cirtek Holdings Limited © 2020 Annual Report

1.

HK$10,000
10,0008 7T

US$6,234,178
6,234,178 T

US$3,100,000
3,100,000% 7T

HK$2
28T

BDT50,000,000
50,000,000
RIER

BDT5,000,000
5,000,000
B ALE R

INR100,000
100,000E0E & it

PKR100,000
100,000
ERIREY

B X BB R

REAREEER (&)

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

AARMBARNFEHIIOT :

Sale of printing products
HEENRIEm

Manufacturing of printing
products

HERIER

Manufacturing of printing
products

HEERER

Dormant (2019: Sale of
printing products)

WEER (20195 : $HEH
)

Manufacturing of printing
products

EENRER
Sale of printing products
38 ENRIE
Sale of printing products
HEENRIE R

Sale of printing products

HEHREmR



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1. RAREEER(E)

Information of subsidiaries (Continued)

MEARNER(E)

Charming Trim & Packaging, Inc United States of US$10,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
America 10,000%7T and provision of
EHRARE customers services
(2019: Sale of printing
products)
HEHRERRRHREP
BR#% (20195 : $5EENfR
Em)
Lowatag Limited Hong Kong HK$150,002 - 100  Investment holding
BE 150,002/7C REER
Charming Europe BVBA Belgium EUR50,000 - 100  Provision of customer
L B 50,0008 7T services
REE P RS
Charming Printing (SZ) Ltd (note (b)) PRC RMB50,000 - 100  Provision of customer
FYNEERFERRBERAR (D) HE AR¥50,0007T services
RUEE P RS
Cirtek Link Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Investment holding
FEBERBRERAR BE 10,0007 7T (2019: Nil) ~ BEER
(2019 : &)
Cirtek Link (Shenzhen) Limited (note(b)) PRC US$1,000,000 - 100 Provision of customer
FEBnE ORI BB AR (D) Sl 1,000,000% 7T (2019:Nil)  services
(2019F : &) REZPRB
Cirtek Investment Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
KERLEHE E REZR
Charming Trim Etiket Limited Sirketi Turkey TL10,000,000 - 100  Dormant
TEHE 10,000,000 (2019: Nil) ~ WmES
THEEH (20197 : &)
Notes: B &
(a) This entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the laws of the (a) ZEBRBREDEAZAMAIINGEELE -
PRC.
(b)  This entity is registered as a limited liability company under the laws of the PRC. (b) HEBREVBZEEZAMAEREEAR -

HEEZERERLT © 2020 FERSE
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
g e
31 December 2020

2020612A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

For the listing of the Company’s shares, the Company underwent
a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”), further details of
which are set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 28 February
2020. Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company became the
holding company of the companies now comprising the Group on
28 May 2019. The companies now comprising the Group were
under the common control of Mr. Barry Chan Sing Ming (“Mr. Barry
Chan"”) and Ms. Law Miu Lan (“Ms. Candy Law") (collectively
the “Controlling Shareholders"”), who are spouses and have been
acting in concert for control over the Group before and after the
Reorganisation. Accordingly, these financial statements have been
prepared by applying the principles of merger accounting as if the
Reorganisation had been completed at the beginning of the year
ended 31 December 2019.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss, the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated statements
of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows of
the Group for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 include
the results and cash flows of all companies now comprising the
Group from the earliest date presented or since the date when the
subsidiaries and/or businesses first came under the common control
of the Controlling Shareholders, where this is a shorter period. The
consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020 and 2019 have been prepared to present the assets
and liabilities of the subsidiaries and/or business using the existing
book values from the Controlling Shareholders’ perspectives. No
adjustments are made to reflect fair values, or recognise any new
assets or liabilities as a result of the Reorganisation.

Equity interests in subsidiaries and/or businesses held by the parties
other than the controlling shareholders prior to the Reorganisation
are presented as non-controlling interests in equity in applying the
principles of merger accounting.

All intra-group transactions and balances have been eliminated on
consolidation.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.2 REEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which
include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss which has been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between shareholders of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
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2.2

2.3

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs for the first time
for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions

(early adopted)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Definition of Material
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(a)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive set of
concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance
to all parties to understand and interpret the standards. The
Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on measurement
and reporting financial performance, new guidance on the
derecognition of assets and liabilities, and updated definitions
and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities. It also
clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement
uncertainty in financial reporting. The Conceptual Framework
is not a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein
override the concepts or requirements in any standard. The
Conceptual Framework did not have any significant impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that
for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered
a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without including
all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs.
The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue
to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments
have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to transactions or
other events that occurred on or after 1 January 2020. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

(c)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an
alternative risk-free rate ("RFR"). The amendments provide
temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue
during the period of uncertainty before the introduction of the
alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments require companies
to provide additional information to investors about their hedging
relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties.
The amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group as the Group does not
have any interest rate hedging relationships.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification accounting
for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the pandemic
and only if (i) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or
less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding
the change; (ii) any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there
is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the
lease. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 June 2020 with earlier application permitted and
shall be applied retrospectively. The amendment did not have
any significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, or both.
The amendments did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS

The Company has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4, and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the
Conceptual Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Insurance Contracts®
Insurance Contracts® ¢

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current® ®

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 412

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

- No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

© As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align

the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

© As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4
was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS

39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023
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2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3
an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or
a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
the date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS
16 address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments which
affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark
is replaced with an alternative RFR. The Phase 2 amendments
provide a practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate to
be updated without adjusting the carrying amount when accounting
for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and the new
basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically
equivalent to the previous basis immediately preceding the change.
In addition, the amendments permit changes required by the
interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations
and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship being
discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on transition
are dealt with through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to
measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having to meet the
separately identifiable requirement when an RFR is designated as
a risk component. The relief allows an entity, upon designation of
the hedge, to assume that the separately identifiable requirement
is met, provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk
component to become separately identifiable within the next 24
months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional information to enable users of financial statements to
understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an
entity’s financial instruments and risk management strategy. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but entities are
not required to restate the comparative information.
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2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.4 EEMEERERNEETEREER(F)

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and foreign currencies based on
the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and the London Interbank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR") as at 31 December 2020. If the interest
rates of these borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a future period,
the Group will apply this practical expedient upon the modification
of these borrowings when the “economically equivalent” criterion
is met and expects that no significant modification gain or loss will
arise as a result of applying the amendments to these changes.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint
ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify that
if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period
if it complies with those conditions at that date. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those
items, in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
retrospectively only to items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials)
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as
well as contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to
contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application
without restating the comparative information. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lIllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS
16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially different from the
terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender
on the other's behalf. An entity applies the amendment to
financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity
first applies the amendment. The amendment is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not expected to
have a significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

e HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in Illustrative
Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives when
applying HKFRS 16.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations other than those under common control
are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value, which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 = based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Company the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,

provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises
lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-
of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 2 to 30 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, and payments of penalties for termination
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of
an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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3¢

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on
equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefit associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Sale of printing products

Revenue from the sale of printing products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the printing products.

Some contracts for the sale of printing products provide
customers with rights of return. The rights of return give rise to
variable consideration.

(i)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the Group
estimates the goods that will not be returned using the
most likely amount method to predict the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be
returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.

(b) Freight and transportation income

Freight and transportation income is recognised when the
services have been provided to customers.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’'s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“Equity-Settled
Transactions”).

The cost of Equity-Settled Transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in note 30 to the financial statements.

The cost of Equity-Settled Transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for Equity-Settled
Transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes in Hong Kong and overseas for those employees who
are eligible and have elected to participate in the schemes.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the schemes, except for the Group's employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the memorandum and bye-laws of the relevant companies
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’'s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rate for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rate for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Certain contracts for the sale of printing products include a right
of return that give rises to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to use either the
expected value method or the most likely amount method based on
which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the most likely amount method is the
appropriate method to use in estimating the variable consideration
for the sale of printing products with rights of return, given the large
number of customer contracts that have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined that the
estimates of variable consideration are not constrained based on its
historical experience, business forecast and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable consideration
will be resolved within a short time frame.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its items of property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and its competitor actions. Management
will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are shorter
than those previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying value of an item of property, plant and equipment is
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable in accordance
with the accounting policy as disclosed in the relevant part of this
section. The recoverable amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment is calculated as the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use, the calculations of which involve the use
of estimates.

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the apparel
product sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

Management reviews the condition of inventories of the Group
and makes provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items which are identified as no longer suitable for sale or use.
Management estimates the net realisable value for such inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review at the end of
each reporting period and assesses whether any provision made
against obsolete and slow-moving items. Management reassesses
the estimation at the end of each reporting period.

The identification of obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact on
the carrying values of inventories and the write-down of inventories
recognised in the periods in which such estimates have been
changed. The carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December
2020 was HK$52,943,000 (2019: HK$44,565,000).

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
December 2020 was HK$1,523,000 (2019: Nil). Further details are
given in note 16.

The purchase price allocation of the Group’s business combination,
as detailed in note 32 to the financial statements, requires the
determination of fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. The net assets acquired, include amongst others,
property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets, of which
their fair values are dependent on a range of estimates including
estimated future cash flows of the underlying business, discount
rate and interest rate. Given the uncertainties in the estimation, the
actual outcomes may be higher or lower than the estimated fair
values of these items as at the date of acquisition. Where the actual
outcomes of these items are different from the amounts initially
recorded, such differences may impact the future financial results.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. K&EDEER
For management purposes, the Group has only one reportable MEREENMS @ AEBEEAR— (@7 2HEE
operating segment, which is the manufacture and sale of printing S BNAEEREEERIER °
products.
Geographical information it 15 & %}
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT
Hong Kong BB 97,895
Mainland China ==Y Eilvps) 88,362
Bangladesh eIk 34,264
Vietnam B 20,688
United States ESET 17,429
Others Hith 94,299
352,937
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the it S E R TR IE R PR 25 ©
customers.
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET
Hong Kong B 8,437
Mainland China B 3D, 93,355
Bangladesh &=z 15,823
Other countries HAbBIZR 17,868
135,483
The non-current asset information above is based on the LIRS EEER IR EEELR
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments and g WABESE TAEMEEMIBEE -

deferred tax assets.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. KESIER(E)
Information about a major customer EBRETEEFNEHR
Revenue from a major customer, including a group of entities which KEMAEBRZFI1I0%HIA LR —BFERD
are known to be under common control with that customer, which (BHEEMEZEPLPZHARZFN—HER)N
accounted for 10% or more of the Group's revenue is set out below: WSy R -
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET
Customer A ZEA 38,908
The revenue from the above major customer was all derived from e L FERFPHNREIELEBHENRIE
the sale of printing products. an °
6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WHEMUREMEARKE
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after WEEEMBREE BSMNRENEEEE
allowances for returns, trade discounts and rebates. HEEMMBEEE -
An analysis of the Group's revenue and other income and gains is as N5 B A Y DA R E A A R s A AT EATR
follows:
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEEHWE
Types of goods or services EmgiRisiEa
Sale of printing products $HE ED Rl E G 352,937
Geographical markets 15 T 35
Hong Kong BB 97,895
Mainland China PR B A 88,362
Bangladesh Eay)iEa 34,264
United States G 17,429
Vietnam R 20,688
Others Hb 94,299
352,937
Timing of revenue recognition U R B R
Goods transferred at a point in time RE —FHZERY
Bm 352,937
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6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued) 6. WHEUREMBARWE(EZ)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) BEESHNWE(E)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TRINTREVFTAGHNEENE BRI
that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of e
the years:
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT
Sale of printing products 5% ED Rl 2 G 8,416
Sale of printing products THE EJ6) Z dm
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the E%’U%JE?\E(\‘QHEUF'E‘%DD%LW [IRES
printing products and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 — R HET30ZE0RANEIH - R
days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment F—REZBLNAR - BRIGHTHES
in advance is normally required. Some contracts provide BREREE  EEEXBHARERE -
customers with a right of return which gives rise to variable
consideration subject to constraint.
As the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or R 20204F K 2019F 12 A31H&A T K&
partially satisfied) as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are part of R E D EXNBNRERRERBFH
contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or BE—FRUNRNENZ —2D  BIBES
less, the transaction price allocated to such is not disclosed, as MRS R B 1R R ITREE A AT
permitted by the practical expedient in HKFRS 15. R WEBRBEIEZEBANNRFE
1% o
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT
Other income and gains HAug A K Wi
Freight and transportation income EEREGKRA 536
Interest income FEMA 7
Sale of scrap materials SHEBEEME 2,011
Government grants* ERATFR B * 532
Foreign exchange differences, net MEH ZRF5E 1,446
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME  WENRE
plant and equipment, net Hy Uk =5 5 =
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use WILTEREREEE
assets, net KU R E -
Others HAh 1,169
5,701
*  Asat 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no unfulfilled conditions or other ¥ RA2020F %2019 12A31H » AEE S BRMNK
contingencies attaching to the government grants that had been recognised by J478 B I 45 B 5 R S B O AR R S B fh B SR SR o
the Group.
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7. P

ROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

*

*%

Cost of sales* 4 K AR

Depreciation of property, plant and Y BENRKETE
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENTE

Short-term lease expenses EHEERX

Employee benefit expense (excluding B ER/ARZ (TeE
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): EEHM(KIEE9))
Wages and salaries ITERFH®

Pension scheme contributions BRIRESETEIME K

Government grants** B #e By * *
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR 7 A
Listing expenses EmRX
Foreign exchange differences, net* ME N ERFRE

B 5 W IE R A

Impairment of trade receivables*
Gain on disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment, net B &)U F 58

Gain on derecognition of right-of-use WILTERFEREEED
assets, net a5 F 5

Loss on disposal of items of LEFREEEERMN
right-of-use assets* E5tE*

BAFHER ABzED
TREEQTEEE

Fair value loss on a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss*

These items are included in “Other expenses” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The government grants have been received from the local government. It mainly
represented compensation of the unemployment insurance paid to the local
government and the acquisition of the Group’s new machines, which are transferred
from deferred income to profit or loss over the useful lives of the relevant assets,
and the government grant from the Employee Support Scheme from Hong Kong
government in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies during the current year. There
are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

Cost of inventories sold includes HK$52,485,000 (2019: HK$64,003,000) of employee
benefit expense, and depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets which are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed above
for each of these types of expenses. Included in cost of sales was also provision for
inventories of HK$1,466,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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7.

R F5 A= T
AN E B RR R AR FAEH0RR (T A) R FI& 18
1BIEEL :
2019
20194
Notes HK$'000
B 5 TFHET
178,168
14 17,326
15 11,224
15 43
104,710
11,828
116,538
(532)
1,611
11,030
(1,446)
20 833
(87)
58

*%

ZEHEEREE2020F 12 A31 A L FEMNEGEBRE
[ EABRXE IFIR ©

BURF80T B BB ATURER - B = B8 E BT SN
R R AR I E B A R BRI RS - ENERRE
EABREEEREHREEERS  URBEBBRAFE
$L.COVID-1918 R BhIR th &Y [ R34 265t 8] | AT FB R -
% 55170 B 0 4 14 RO R RO IR PF AR E -

B & 177 & K A & $ 52,485,000 % st (2019 & :
64,003,000 7T) H{E ERAIF X R WE - BE k&
ANREREEENE (Nt A EXHZESERASKE
HIIERAMEEE) - BE2020F12A31HILFE  FEEE
1,466,000 T IME T ASHERA ©
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8. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Interest on bank loans IRITERF S
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is

BB A
BMERESFTT

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT

601
2,134

2,735

ESNERITHRAEMSE

BIEETHRA - BB QREH FE383(1)(a)
(b) * (C)RMEARAR(FEBEESHZER )R
BIE2HBEENAEEEEREBTHRASH
0T :

as follows:

2019
20194
HK$'000
T
Fees e =

Other emoluments: Hibp< -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREYEF 2,402
Performance related bonuses FIMRBEEAL 1,496
Pension scheme contributions BIRESETEIME K 46
3,944

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
year were as follows:

Dr. Wong Chi Wing FEEHL
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE
Mr. Lam Chor Ki, Dick IS A

There were no other emoluments payable to independent non-
executive directors during the year (2019: Nil).

(a) BIFEHITES
FRINTFELIERTESNBRSAOT ¢
2019
20194

HK$'000
THETT

FRIEEN TIBIENTTE SR E BN
©(2019%F : &)
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION 9. EERFETHAEME(Z)
(Continued)

(b) Executive directors (b) HITESE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TRL TAL THL
Year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020512A31H L £
Mr. Barry Chan REHEE
Ms. Candy Law BEY@aT
Mr. James Chan FRRHE S 4
Year ended 31 December 2019 EZ20195 128310 L5
Mr. Barry Chan RERLE - 1,200 748 17 1,965
Ms. Candy Law BYBaL - 960 748 17 1,725
Mr. James Chan [ ik - 242 - 12 254
= 2,402 1,496 46 3,944
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or ER BERET YRR ES RS RE
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2019: Nil). A5 (20194F : &) o
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the ER NEBBEREESNEH - A
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or BN £2 B 5k 10 A B ) S5 B ok B B R 1 o

as compensation for loss of office.
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. ABBRSFHEE
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2019: FR - AEEEHEEREMSA(2019F : M
two) directors of the Company, details of whose remuneration are BIRNRBEE - HHEMFBEHR E X9 -
set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the three HBT=H(2019F : —R)IFEERSFEE
(2019: three) remaining non-director, highest paid employees are as B HFEEEYIEET -
follows:
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMBREYEF 6,993
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET B 301
7,294
The number of the non-director, highest paid employees whose BRUATEHMAERNIEESSESHEE AST
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: T
2019
20194
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,00078 7T -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/ 7T -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ C 22,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ 7c£2,500,000/8 70 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001%87C 23,000,000/ 7T -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7T 3,500,000/ 7T 1
3
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of FR - AEBEBERTIAIFEERSHFEESES
the non-director, highest paid employees as an inducement to join or HEEN - {EA NN A S5 B S50 A B B9 22 Bl sl i
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2019: B (E (20196 « &)
Nil).
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11. INCOME TAX

11.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of
the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profit
tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2019: HK$2,000,000)
of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2019:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2019: 16.5%). PRC tax has been provided at the rate of 25% (2019:
25%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC during
the year. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States,
a company which is treated as a corporation for the United States
federal income tax purposes was subject to a tax rate of 21% (2019:
21%) at the federal level during the year and was also subject to the
statutory corporate income tax in state and local tax jurisdictions.
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

BIE — &8
FAMX

Current — Hong Kong
Charge for the year
Overprovision in prior years

Current — Elsewhere BIHA— E fb [

Charge for the year FRMAY
Deferred (note 28) RIE (F17E28)
Total tax charge for the year FRRIERZ 25
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NEEFEEBRERE

FREH

BRIEFEHERABREZESHA KA -
REBMBERHSHE R EBE TS HN
EAMEH - ER - BAFNEHERRES
EENMEFTERBRFIZ16.5% (20194 -
16.5% ) T REHR BB - HASE B R
ARSI - B AR ARFAFESHMMAHNE
B2 o ZMB AR E%2,000,000/% T (20194 :
2,000,000/ 7T ) K & 2R 7 ) 7128.25% (2019
F :8.25%) MR RET - 82T BRI E F Al
116.5% (20194 : 16.5% ) MIFE KRBT - A
TR I8 T0 Bk 6 A R B R A B0 5 B AR RO F1i%
TR & 25% (20194F : 25% )T - RIEE
B8 B KRG - RSB IS HE M S A8
BEBEDSERNRAAEL21 %R (20194 :
21% ) BB B - INEBUAR MY Kt J5 T A
AUARERAVATE RS - EEMM S E
R A AN R TR B I AR SR B IS T AE
BEROERHETE -

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET

7,842

3,584
8

11,434
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory rate to the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as

1. FIEH(E)

AR IBOA TE 0 2 P 0 Ak T BT O M) 0 75 2 ) 2 2
REERBREOHAFREROT

follows:
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHBT
Profit before tax B 70 A e A 37,916
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% BOEEME16.5%TEMNHIE 6,256
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority 5 & BB B R R
of 8.25% (2019: 8.25%) 8.25% (20194 : 8.25%) (165)
Effect of different tax rates for different TREEEE TR ENZE
jurisdictions 989
Adjustments in respect of current tax of Bt B BN EARE B
previous periods FREL By =
Income not subject to tax BERBEA (106)
Expenses not deductible for tax AN A 3,224
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BEHROE AT IEER (100)
Tax losses not recognised RERH R IAEE 963
Others HAh 373
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax rate RSB EREBIX65.6%
of 65.6% (2019: 30.2%) (20194F : 30.2%)aTHE
B Y 11,434
12. DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
2019
20194
HK$'000
T
Proposed final dividend — HK0.075 cents EEAER S — R mAR
(2019: Nil) per ordinary share 0.075/811 (20194 : 4#) =
Special dividends FERIIRR S 10,000
10,000

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, in February 2020, special
dividends of HK$10,000,000 was declared and paid by the Company
to the then shareholders. Investors who become shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) after the listing of the Company on the
Stock Exchange are not entitled to such special dividends.

FERZBARPRBAFARDARRNEERR
BERE L4 -

B E2020F12 831 B IEFEE © R202042
A ARRME KRS IR MRS
10,000,000/ 7T » EARRIREERZ AT LR
AR AR ([ARER )it E & EEERE
RAAERIAE B o
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company of HK$1,647,000 (2019: HK$25,331,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue of 1,903,005,464 (2019:
1,500,000,000), on the assumption that the Reorganisation and the
capitalisation has been completed on 1 January 2019.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the year ended 31 December 2020 in respect
of a dilution as the impact of the share options outstanding had
an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amounts
presented.

No adjustment had been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the year ended 31 December 2019 in respect
of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares
in issue during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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BREABASEDNERARAG L BERSE
A AFEMEERNEF1,647,0007% 7T (20194 :
25,331,000 7T ) LA 2 B 397 3 AR hn i 15
£01,903,005,464 % (20194 : 1,500,000,000
R)FTE  BREEAREARELER2019F1 A1
B -

AR ERITENBRELYE 27 NERERR
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2020
At 1 January 2020:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2020, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Acquisition through business
combination (note 32)

Disposal

Depreciation provided during
the year (note 7)

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2020:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

31 December 2019
At 1 January 2019:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2019, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Depreciation provided during
the year (note 7)

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2019, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2019:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

HK$'000
TET

HK$'000
TET

20206124318
R20206F1 AR :
XA
RithE

HREFE

7202041818
Mk RTE

NE

BREBAETIE
(BFiE32)

&

FERITERE(HET)

[ %

20206124318
MRRANTE

R2020612 4318 :
XA
2ithE
REFE

20195128318

R2019F1 818 :
5% 13,634
e (6,352)

REFE 7,282

166,616
(92,097)

74,519

R2019F 1718 « 1k

BEHE 7,282 74,519

RE 1,305 8,916
FRTERE(HFT)

(1,141)

X AE (91)

(15,363)
(1,045)

R2019%12A318 -
Mk 25HTE 7,355 67,027
#2019F12 8318 :
3% 14,817
e (7,462)

REFE 7,355

173,459
(106,432)

67,027

14. % - BERRE

HK$'000
TET

6,837
(5,772)

1,065
1,065
307

(462)
(10)

900

7,069
(6,169)

900

HK$'000
TAT

1,736
(927)

809

809
824

(360)

1,277

2,615
(1,338)

1,277

BEZERARIF

HK$'000
TET

188,823
(105,148)

83,675

83,675
11,362

(17,326)
(1,142)

76,559

197,960
(121,401)

76,559
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

15.

At 31 December 2020, certain of the Group's plant and machinery
with a net book value of approximately HK$5,695,000 (2019:
HK$5,950,000) were pledged to secure certain of the bank loans of
the Group as detailed in note 27.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings, plant
and machinery and motor vehicles used in its operations. Leases of
plant and machinery generally have lease terms of ten years, while
buildings generally have lease terms between two to thirty years and
motor vehicles have lease terms of five years. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside

14. W% BERREB(E)

15.

the Group.

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are as follows:

HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2019 R2019F 1818 41,800
Additions NE 2,924
Disposal e =
Depreciation charged (note 7) nERZ (KFF7) (8,296)
Exchange realignment [& N & (537)
At 31 December 2019 and $R2019F12A318 K&
1 January 2020 2020%1 818
Additions R
Lease modification MEET
Depreciation charged (note 7) ERY (HE7)
Derecognition IR
Exchange realignment [ 5 %
At 31 December 2020 #2020 12A31H
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202012 A31H - AEEKREFELA
5,695,000/ 7T (20194 : 5,950,000/ 7T ) H) &
THERKEEIER  UESETAERZE
FRITER(FFB R E27) -

HE
REBEERABAA

AEERZIRET - HiE KUK EIEB
AEMEERH  UHEZEMRR - BB RS
WEE-RERATE  METHHEHE—RE
HR—z==+F mAENEE-REHAR
Fo—RME - AEETAIMAEEUIMAL
BEEOMEEEE -

AEBMENEAEEENREERESH N
™

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT TAT TET
25,907 150 67,857

= = 2,924

- (130) (130)
(2,910) (18) (11,224)
(402) (2) (941)
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. HE(Z&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERAABAE)
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEEENEEERFAZSHNT

during the year are as follows:

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 A1BMEREE 54,555
New leases FHEE 2,924
Accretion of interest recognised FRERBFEIE M
during the year 2,134
Lease modification HEEE] -
Payments (NEN (17,230)
Termination of leases KIEHRE =
Exchange realignment IE i (548)
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31 BHREREE 41,835
Analysed into: DR
Current portion TREEL D 11,626
Non-current portion IERENF S 30,209
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 39 to HEBEMEH A D TRMEREMNEI9
the financial statements. W o
Certain of the Group's lease liabilities were guaranteed by MR2020F 12 A31H  ASEETHE
unlimited corporate guarantees given by the Company as at 31 BETBHARAMGETHERAAE
December 2020 (2019: personal guarantees provided by the RATER(2019F : ERBRREES
Controlling Shareholders of up to HK$28,067,000). 28,067,000 LAY AL AFER) ©
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31 December 2020
2020 12H31H

15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are

REBERABANE)

MEETHRAEEEFHENSENT

as follows:
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 2,134
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEAETERAS 11,224
Expense relating to short-term leases MR BREEEENFAE
(included in administrative expenses) (FFATTEAR) 43
Gain on derecognition of RIEEREAEEERD
right-of-use assets, net W e F 58 -
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIEEERNELE 13,401
16. GOODWILL 16. iHE
Carrying amount: BRME(E -
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and M2019%F1 818 ~ 2019128318 &
1 January 2020 20201818
Business combination (Note 32) X556 0 (K1EE32)

At 31 December 2020 72020912 A31H

Impairment testing of goodwill BEERRERIE

PR B9 3R @ 78 A B /9 PT Uk B @ &8 (PR 5E32)
REABEFEAIAETE  RESREEEL
ENtERMBEERAReRERA - W2
ZYE BERIBURERLEENTEHA

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit acquired (note
32) has been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a seven-
year period approved by senior management, with reference to the
expected useful lives of the property, plant and equipment and the FRFH - #ZE2020F12A831BLEFE - R
intangible assets. The discount rate for the cash-generating unit EREENMERANRSEESEMMIARE
applied to the cash flow projections is 14.5% for the year ended 31 14.5% °

December 2020.

AR EECFHEARRSELBMNIRST
ENREEREXR2.0% °

The long-term growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the
cash-generating unit beyond the seven-year period is 2.0%.
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. HE(E&)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued) BEENRERR (&)
Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the HZE2020F12A31HLFE st EBHESELE
cash-generating unit for the year ended 31 December 2020. The BUMNEBEEREEME - ATHAEREE
following describes each key assumption on which management has EITRENRENHRENIRESRETERFTRE
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of B EREx -
goodwill:
Budgeted revenue and gross margins — The basis used to determine FAEWRAREFE-FHEAREESDRNEE
the value assigned to the budgeted revenue and gross margins is WAREFREENEELSRTIHZERNFY
the average revenue and gross margins achieved in the markets, WAREFE - BIEATISERTAE -
adjusted for expected market development.
Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax. AYHE R — BRI R AR AR BEIR R -

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. HtbEFREE

Cost at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 7201941818 - 2019128318 &

1 January 2020, net of accumulated 202041 A1 B AIAA - Bk 5T
amortisation
Acquisition through business combination BIREFR S OHEITIRRE (FT5E32)
(Note 32)
At 31 December 2020 2020412 H31H
At 31 December 2020 72020912 H31H
Cost AR
Accumulated depreciation 2 E
Net carrying amount REFE
The intangible assets represent computer software acquired from B EEREKBABYE = FNEERG &
independent third parties, which have finite useful lives of 10 years BRAIEAFEA10F - WAERELER o

and are amortised on a straight-line basis.
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31 December 2020
2020 12H31H

18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Key management insurance contract

Analysed for reporting purpose as:
Non-current assets

FRBEE

The key management insurance contract at 31 December 2020 was
mandatorily classified as a financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss as its contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest.

Note:

As at 31 December 2020, the key management insurance contract represented life
insurance plans with investment elements relating to one member of key management
personnel of the Group. The total sum insured is US$2,000,000 (approximately
HK$15,500,000) with an annual minimum guaranteed return of 2%.

As at 31 December 2020, if the Group withdrew from the insurance contract, the accounts
value, net of surrender charges of US$140,000 (approximately HK$1,089,000), would be
refunded to the Group. The amount of surrender charges decreased over time and was no
longer required from the 19th year of contract conclusion onwards.

19. INVENTORIES

Raw materials R %}
Work in progress E8m
Finished goods BIPK i

Cirtek Holdings Limited © 2020 Annual Report

TEEBRABRRAEN

RBEBNDIA

18. RATEFABRENEREE

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT

M2020F12 AN HNEEEEABRRAH
NENReEReTHFEAINASRAE
WERARH D BEARAFEFABRENSRE
7= o

fi -

20206128310 - TEZERABRBRELNEAZREE
2 ERRSEEALE—REIBTERABNRERD - BR
%8 /42,000,0003 70 (4715,500,000/4 7T ) + /2 & KR E B3k
B2% ©

202012 A31H  MAKRBERERBRELD @ AIRFEE
(A 4NBR R LR B F140,000% 7T (491,089,000 7T ) ) iR 2 T
REE - RIREASHBREBEIRER - RENKRIEERE19FE
faar (i

19. BE

2019
20194
HK$'000
THAT

19,637
11,660
13,368

44,565
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. E S EWFIE
2019
20194
HK$'000
FAET
Trade receivables 2 5 W GRIE 48,675
Impairment VEAIE] (348)
48,327
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, AEBMEZUFEEAXNBERFIILE HIK
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally FoMHEE—MBEEELAMK - EEH—K
required. The credit period is generally within 30 to 90 days from BRAGKEBBBFS0ENARN - BHREFE
the date of monthly statements. Each customer has a maximum HaEERE SRS REEETHE
credit limit. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior B - REEWARMEE ZEUGRIELERITHEE
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit ] $ 19 Gh ok EL b (5 B 308 FE e o 2 5 IR IA
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables TNEHR ©
are non-interest-bearing.
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of RBEHR - BRIEBEZHZEHNE S ERIE
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss (OB EsIE B ) BREC D AT T
allowance, is as follows:
2019
20194
HK$'000
FH&T
Within 1 month — @A R 30,689
1 to 2 months —ZMEA 12,539
2 to 3 months Mz =& A 2,023
Over 3 months wmB=1"A 3,076
48,327
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31 December 2020
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year
Impairment losses (note 7)

Amount written off as uncollectible

At end of year

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a

10

B ETE (FRE7)
HEH N AT Ak B B 3RO

FR

provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision

rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography). The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions

and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2020

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)

As at 31 December 2019

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)

BHEEHRE
FEAE(TET)
BAEEBA(TEL)

BH AR
EAS(E(TAT)
BHEEHA(TAT)
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Current

i

0.30%
28,670
86

20. EZRWFIA(E)

BRI ENERREZERNT

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT

40
833
(525)

348

REWE B PRBBRBREEETREST - K
SAERHEEEE BEXERABRLER
BRI E) S B FPAD BB B AR - %
STERRFAXRNEER  EEFERN RS
A SMERBESE - EAFEFRREE
BIRGTERAN A B RAISEER -

TRIVIAEERA B ERETENE 5 R
FEZEERBRER :

7120205128 31H

#2019%12831H

Past due
1t030days  1to3months Over 3 months Total
1230A 1238 A HiB3fEA @t
0.69% 1.29% 4.08% 0.71%
13,427 3,560 3,018 48,675
93 46 123 348
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21.

22.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

IR
B K H e RIA

Prepayments
Deposits and other receivables

o SEREED Y

Less: Non-current portion

Current portion mEnER

Note:

(a)  The amounts mainly represent prepayments for the acquisition of property, plant and

equipment and the non-current portion of rental deposits.

The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected
credit losses for financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables. The Group considers the historical loss rate
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data in calculating
the expected credit loss rate. The Group has classified financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables in
stage 1 and continuously monitors their credit risk. The financial
assets included in the above balances related to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default and past due amounts.
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the loss allowance was assessed
to be minimal.

BALANCE WITH THE ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
The amount due from the ultimate holding company is unsecured,

interest-free, repayable on demand and non-trade in nature. The
carrying amount of the balance approximates to its fair value.

21

22.

. AR - RERHMEWRIE

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT

Note
B 3E

9,123
5,156

14,279

(a) (1,307)

12,972

@) EHSBEXERUBEDE BERRENEMREAR
HEZSNIFREIS -

REBRA —BARRTABGRE - BZE& K
HipEl R Em S mEEELEHEEEER
e  AEBHERBEEERXRERBES
BRIIZAEEREHCESIREL AR - A%
EEHFABNRE - RE R HEtERKIEN
TREEIND BB R WHEEREEFER
B o AT A Ll A5 SR H)© B0 & 2 YA B FE W KB
WA B AR ek R B BRI S B o 12020 K&
201912 A31H ' BEBEHTEATEK -

BEEREZER N BNAEERR

&

RN SRALERARFERERR 28 RE
REERBIFESUE - ZASNREEEE
NFERE -
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2020612A31H

23. BALANCES WITH DIRECTORS

23. BEEEMAER

The Group's balances with directors, disclosed pursuant to section
383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, are as follows:

Amounts due from a director

RIRE B N BHEPIZE383(1)(d) fF K~ & (BB
EEARER)ROIEINARBEN A EEEE
EMREBRINT

Y —EEERE

Ms. Candy Law

EYMaL

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 January 2019 720191 H1H 1,088
Maximum amount outstanding during the year FRARGSAEESSE 1,088
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 M2019F12 A31H Kk2020%1HA1H 290
Maximum amount outstanding during the year FAGRRAEBESTE 290

At 31 December 2020

The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected
credit losses for the amount due from a director. The Group
considers the historical loss rate and adjusts for forward-looking
macroeconomic data in calculating the expected credit loss rate. The
Group has classified the amount due from a director in stage 1 and
continuously monitors its credit risk. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group estimated that the expected credit loss rate for the amounts
due from a director was insignificant.

The amounts due to directors represented amounts due to Mr. Barry
Chan and Mr. James Chan as at 31 December 2019.

The balances with the directors are unsecured, interest-free,
repayable on demand and non-trade in nature.

Cirtek Holdings Limited © 2020 Annual Report

2020612 A31H

AEERA —RAAREKR —BESHEEN
FEHEEEIERE - AEEERBEEEE
REFE EBABERWIZAE R BERE
EHAR - AREBEK—ZERHEES A
FR - WIHEEREEERR - 712019512
A318 @ REBGFHER—BEZZIEMNTEDS
EEBBRIFERK -

R2019F 12831 H » BN ZEEHIERERR
B2 AR 8 A N BRASE U S8 AE RO FRIE ©

HEENEREREER 28  HEREE
REBIFEHMEE -
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances
Time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

e RRTREH
TR

RelBReEEY

25.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“"RMB") amounted to
HK$4,846,000 (2019: HK$7,384,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between fourteen days and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalent approximate
to their fair values.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 1 month
1 to 2 months
2 to 3 months
Over 3 months

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled

—fEARA

—EZmMIEA
ME=1ER
HEB=1EA

on 30 to 150-day terms (2019: 30 to 60-day terms).

24 RERREEEY

2019
20194
HK$'000
THAT

43,807

43,807

RBEHR - KEEUARE([ARE HE
RIS M IRTTAE£R A 4,846,00078 7T (20194
7,384,000%70) - ARBTBEREBR AR M
B R - AR IE R B A INE B IR B A K
HIE - EERMNESERE @ AEBAEBR
BETINEEBNRITEARELBAHME
ﬁé} o

RITMSILENE B RITERA R B =
REAE - EHERAFRZHARNFTOAE
=EA - BFAEENEEERSFRIZARE
HFEAFERERDMAE - RITERTFHANEE
Rif BWET MR KFLERAIRTT - RERIRE
EEYHREEREL QN FERS -

25. S5 EMNFIA

MNBEHR - RIBFHZ AN E 5 BN FURR
BT

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT

29,573
3,762
1,279

767

35,381

B S EMFIETE  WiBHEN30BE150H
A& (20194 : 30E E60HA) °
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2020 12H31H

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HitEREREGTER
2019
20194
Notes HK$'000
s FET
Other payables E IR (a) 2,257
Accruals fEZTE 26,186
Contract liabilities EREE (b) 3,979
Deferred government grant RE AT B (c) 976
33,398
Less: Non-current portion B IERBE S (d) (841)
Current portion mENEB D 32,657
Notes: B EE
(a)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have generally no credit terms. (a) HEMNZIETRES - — B EEEE -
(b)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) ARBEHBOT :
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
20195 12A31H 201951 A1H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Short-term advances received from customers &% 5 WELH) 52 HigA R 3,979 8,416
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver printing products to AHBEOERME P ZMENRESATUE R S H 8
customers. The increase in contract liabilities in 2020 was mainly due to the increase o 2020 F A HBBEMNEERRFERERTFKRIE
in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the sales of printing BASHE ENRIE SR BB FILINFTEL - 201966 AN A G
products at the end of the year. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2019 was mainly BAODTEHRERBRPLP NI A BIEEERERNE
due to the decrease in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the HABFR D o
sales of printing products at the end of the year.
(c) The amount represents a government grant received from the Provincial Finance (c) HERLBEEAENMNE I HREKERNEMFME o KA
Bureau, Huizhou Province. This government grant is asset-related and is amortised M EEMRBERNABEENFAER(BIE 201845
over the useful lives of the related assets, which is ten years since May 2018. BAREEH10ER ) #S o
(d) The amount represents the non-current portion of a government grant. (d) BAELERBTMBNIEREED -
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 27. ;T EBITER
2019
20195
Effective
interest
rate per
annum Maturity HK$'000
BRERX 58A ThL
Current L
Bank loans - unsecured (note (a))  BTEF —EHR () 2.4%-3.6% On demand 16,516
Bank loans - secured (note (blfi))  B{TEF - BEB(HEEDI) 5.4% 2020 1741
2020%
Bank loans - secured (note (blfi))  BITEF - HHB (D) - - -
18,257
Non-current FENER
Bank loan - secured (note (b)(i) RITEX-BEA(HED)) 54% 2022 2,469
20226
20,726
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT
Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: EEZBRTER
Within one year or on demand —FRFIREK 18,257
In the second year F_F 1,835
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE=FTFERF
(BPIEEREMF) 634
20,726
Notes: B EE

(@) The bank loans are guaranteed by:

unlimited corporate guarantees given by the Company as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
personal guarantees given by the Controlling Shareholders up to HK$48,895,000 as at
31 December 2019).

(b) (i) Certain of the Group's bank loans are secured by plant and machinery with a net
book value of approximately HK$5,695,000 (2019: HK$5,950,000) at the end of
the reporting period as detailed in note 14 to the financial statements.

(i) A life insurance policy with a carrying amount of approximately HK$5,404,000
(2019: Nil) was pledged to secure certain bank loans granted to the Group.

(c)  Except for the certain bank loan which is denominated in United States dollars, all
borrowings are in Hong Kong dollars (2019: All bank loans were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars).

(@) RITERTIBATEEER -

ANER2020F12 A31 B4 FH &R A AIHER (2019
F R EA2019F 12 A31 B % F 5 = 48,895,000
BITHEARER) o

(b) () FEEMBEHRERMFI4FTEEML - AEEE TR
BT B R 45 B oK AR % (E 40 45,695,000 7T
(20194 : 5,950,000/ 7T ) BB R e 224K 470

(i)  AREI{E#95,404,000/8 7T (20194 : )M ABIRE
B - UEBSRTAEEZ & FRITER

(© BETURTAHENRITRIN - FAEERGUBTE
E(2019F : PRARITEFIHUBITAE) -
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 27. stERITERE)
Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and based MR TR B ERBIERNTZESBIBRTE
on the maturity terms of the bank loans, the amounts repayable H—AE’];EI]EMI%%’/( ANEBREERITERCEE
in respect of the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings were BRESMAT
analysed as follows:
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
2020%12H31H 2019412H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: FEERRITER ¢
Within one year —FR 7,541 5,831
In the second year EF_F 5,339 6,050
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=EFRF
(BIEEEMT) 8,283 8,845
21,163 20,726
28. DEFERRED TAX 28. EEFIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities are as follows: R IEREZEHOT -
Deferred tax liabilities ELEBEEE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January 2019 201951 A1 R 326
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated FREGABRRINBRN
statement of profit or loss during the EERTE (FHaE11)
year (note 11) 8
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 M2019912 A31H &%2020F181H
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated FRBELEREBREBRE
statement of profit or loss during the EREFIR (MHEE11)
year (note 11)
At 31 December 2020 M2020%12HA31H

Cirtek Holdings Limited © 2020 Annual Report



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI AT

28. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 28. EAERIIE (&)

Deferred tax assets

At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and
1 January 2020

Deferred tax credited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the
year (note 11)

20201 81H

At 31 December 2020

The Group estimated unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$45,669,000 (2019: HK$41,887,000). Unrecognised tax losses
arising in Hong Kong and certain foreign operations of approximately
HK$10,706,000 (2019: HK$10,416,000) are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose.

The Group estimated tax losses arising from certain foreign
operations other than Hong Kong in an aggregate amount of
HK$34,963,000 (2019: HK$31,471,000) that will expire in five years
to twenty years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as, in the opinion of the directors, they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and in the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

No deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in
Mainland China (2019: Nil). In the opinion of the directors, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with the investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
HK$17,455,000 (2019: HK$8,015,000).

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

72020912 A31H

HK$'000
THTT

20191 H18 - 2019F12H31B K&

FARFFAZRBERAEER A M)

402

NEE LT AR MR T IAE 18 4945,669,0007%8 70
(20194 :41,887,00087m) - REBRETE
HNZETS EE A Y R FE R TR TE B518.4910,706,0007%
JC(20194F 10,416,000/ 7T ) A £ (R £ A LA
EEAZSEBIBNRE 2 ARKERFEF

NEBEFEEBTBUIINDE T BINER
Z TIEEIEA £ /534,963,000 7T (20194 -
31,471,000 L) * ZEREFEEERAFTE
—+FREE - DHARREEEZEEEND
RIZ R RERBRF

EERR HRAEBEDELBERBEEL
BiE-—BRRROMBAR  MEFRRAARNK
JEER Bt M AT AR VR IR S AR TR IR Y I BEME D
R A ERZSEEEREERIREE

LS E R B A A S RN TE TR A S
BB A R AR IE A B bk 2 FE B TE FO R i HE SRR
ERIIE(2019F - &) - EERA - EAI R
R ZEMNBRARTANAIRED KL SRR 4
RAERELEFHBABERFRAMHBARRE
K E B =5 A £ 517,455,000 7T (20194 -
8,015,000/ 7T) °

ARTMERIRN BB BEFEHYE -
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29. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:

At 25 January 2019 (date of incorporation)
with par value of HK$0.01 each and as at
31 December 2019 (note a)

Increase of authorised share capital with
par value of HK$0.01 each on
21 February 2020 (note b)

As at 31 December 2020

Issued and fully paid:

Issue of a new share upon incorporation of
the Company (note a)

Acquisition of subsidiaries under common
control pursuant to the Reorganisation

As at 31 December 2019
Capitalisation of shares (note c)

Shares issued pursuant to the share offer (note d)

As at 31 December 2020

* Less than HK$500

Cirtek Holdings Limited © 2020 Annual Report
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The Company was incorporated on 25 January 2019 with initial authorised share
capital of HK$38,000 divided into 3,800,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.01 each. On
the date of incorporation, 1 ordinary share of HK$0.01 was allotted and issued by the
Company.

On 21 February 2020, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased
from HK$38,000 divided into 3,800,000 shares to HK$50,000,000 divided into
5,000,000,000 shares by the creation of an additional 4,996,200,000 shares of par
value of HK$0.01 each.

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the shareholders of the Company passed
on 21 February 2020, the directors were authorised to allot and issue a total of
1,499,999,750 shares credited as fully paid at par to each of the holders of the
Company's shares whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on 21 February 2020 in proportion of their shareholdings by
way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$14,999,997.50 standing to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company.

The Company's shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 12
March 2020 and 500,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at HK$0.25 per share on 12
March 2020 in connection with the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

29. BAR(4&)

faE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

AABR201961 A26 AFEMMASL - MEEERAER
38,000/ 7T * % /33,800,000 % & % EI f60.01 7% 7T &9 i
15 e REEMASZBH - 18001 T EBBRE BAAR
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M202042 A21 8 » 818 % 5851 4,996,200,000 % &
FREIEOC.01ETTHIMRG + AN 8% E AR A< £338,000/% 7T
(% 43,800,000 & % 15 ) 2 i & 50,000,000 7t (5 A&
5,000,000,000A% A&7 ) °
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme"”) was approved and adopted
by the Company on 21 February 2020. The purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant options to selected participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take
up options to subscribe for Shares under the Scheme: (a) any
employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time and
including any executive Director), consultants or advisers of, or, to
the Company, any of the subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested
Entity”) in which the Company holds an equity interest (collectively,
the Company, any of the subsidiaries or the Invested Entity are
referred to as the “Relevant Parties”); (b) any non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) of, any
supplier of goods or services to, any customer of and any person or
entity that provides research, development or other technological
support to, the Relevant Parties; and (c) any Shareholders or any
shareholder of any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity or
any holder of any securities issued by the Relevant Parties. For
the purposes of the Scheme, the options may be granted to any
company wholly-owned by one or more persons belonging to any of
the above classes of participants.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. No options may be granted under any schemes
of the Company or the subsidiary of the Company if such grant will
result in the maximum number being exceeded. The total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue (i.e.
200,000,000 as at the date of this annual report). Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme or any other schemes will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10% limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options granted under Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Shares then in issue. Any further grant of the Options in
excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting. Each grant of option under the Scheme to a Director, chief
executive or substantial Shareholder, or to any of their associates,
is subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
Directors. In addition, any grant of option grant of option under
the Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1%
of the Shares in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 30. BRETEI(E)

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from the
date of the grant of the option. The Directors may, at their absolute
discretion, fix any minimum period for which an option must be
held, any performance targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised
upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option granted
under the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in
its absolute discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for
the five business days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option (which must be a business
day (as defined in the Listing Rules)); (ii) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option (which must be a business day
(as defined in the Listing Rules)); and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

At 1 January MA1H
Granted during the year RERF L
At 31 December ®12A31H

No share options were exercised during the years of 2020 and 2019.

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

S2EET BRHERIEE HiE528 0 AR AE
IRHE - BERMDEER L BIRER A 2 EBE
HEEMARABRENRESRRE  ERLAE
HERIL B R R B T 1T R B R E R
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BIEZET 85 BB AR B AR D MR8
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BAREXRA(EER EMAR)) A AMEE XA
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 30. BRETEI(E)

2020

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights

or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share capital.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was
HK$50,000 (HK$0.03 each) (2019: Nil), of which the Group
recognised a share option expense of HK$8,000 (2019: Nil) during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Spot price (HK$)

Exercise price (HK$)
Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)

Expected life of options (years)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 2,000,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 2,000,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$20,000
(before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 2,000,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.1% of the Company’s shares in issue
as at that date.
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31. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 50 of the financial statements.

(a)

(b

(c)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate of the paid up
share capital of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group
attributable to the Controlling Shareholders prior to the
Reorganisation.

The balance of the merger reserve at 31 December 2020
mainly represented the deemed distribution to the Controlling
Shareholders by issuance of the Company's shares pursuant to
the Reorganisation.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all relevant
exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par

value of the shares issued and the consideration paid for the
Reorganisation.
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32. BUSINESS COMBINATION

In December 2020, the Group acquired the business of TrueCount
Corporation (“TrueCount”). TrueCount is engaged in development
and supply of software enabling the use of Radio Frequency
Identification (“RFID"). The acquisition was made as part of the
Group’s strategy to expand its business development. The purchase
consideration of US$245,000 (equivalent to HK$1,899,000) for the
acquisition was in the form of cash.

The fair values of the identifiable assets as at the date of acquisition
were as follows:

32. ¥4t

R 2020 F 12 B+ 7N & B U & TrueCount
Corporation([ TrueCount )27 ° TrueCount
MEERLEEREERESS EE
(TRFIDD) K E 1 - WA BIE Y AN BT A
BERRBEHN—D o KK E245,0005% 7T
(FHE 1,899,000 L) MRS A L -

R RE - ATERIEEN R TFEMT -

Notes HK$'000

B 3 FHET
Property, plant and equipment Y - BRE KR 14 163
Other intangible assets HivfEFEE 17 270
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEAE (57)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AARTENA#HAFEELE 376
Goodwill on acquisition e 16 1,523
Satisfied by cash AR & 1,899
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32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 32. ¥B¥E56(E)

Included in the goodwill of HK$1,523,000 recognised above is an
assembled workforce which is not recognised separately. It is
not separable and does not meet the criteria for recognition as an
intangible asset under HKAS 38 Intangible Assets. None of the
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as
follows:

ERATHER G AR EM1,5623,0008TTRA T
EREG  HUKREBHER - ZHBBEES

R A E BB G EREISRELEE
HETEPEERRRE - RAMECERND
E 0] BER TS

BERBENRSRESITT ¢

HK$'000
FHT
Cash consideration and net outflow of cash HEREUKFTAREB T ZHESREDN
and cash equivalents included in cash flows RERFEEYRLIFE
from investing activities (1,899)

Since the acquisition, it contributed HK$168,000 to the Group's
revenue and HK$86,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended
31 December 2020.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year,
the revenue from continuing operations of the Group and the
profit of the Group for the year would have been HK$840,000 and
HK$438,000, respectively.

B % HREHZE2020F12A31BILEE
&N 5 B B B U 25 168,000 7T M 4R A i T
86,000/ 7T °

BRREHORFMETT  AAKEFAREH

B m e A5 s 7 5 5l £840,000
7B 7T K% 438,000/8 7T ©
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At 1 January 2019

Changes from financing cash flows

New leases

Foreign exchange movement

Interest expense

Interest paid classified as
financing cash flows

At 31 December 2019 and
1 January 2020
Changes from financing cash flows
New leases
Lease modification
Termination of leases
Foreign exchange movement
Interest expense
Interest paid classified as
financing cash flows

At 31 December 2020

(b) Major non-cash transactions

Lease commencement recognition of HK$3,844,000 (2019:
HK$2,924,000) was included in right-of-use assets and lease

liabilities.
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(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of
cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities FTAKEES)
Within financing activities FTAREEH

34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group's bank loans are
included in note 27 to the financial statements.

35. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
capital commitments:

Contracted, but not provided for: EETAVBARBAE -

Plant and machinery RS K i 25

33.

34.

35.

FERERERMEEE)

(c) HENBESRHEAL
AR RERNAERSREAIELT ¢
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT

43
17,230

17,273

BEERE

BB ARERTERMERN T EEEERF
BB B IR M 5E27

A
RIRER - NEBEB U TNEARIE :
2019
20194

HK$'000
THETT

231
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Outstanding balances with directors

Details of the Group's balances with directors as at 31
December 2019 are disclosed in note 21 to the financial
statements.

(b) Other transactions with related parties

(i) In the prior year, personal guarantees were given by the
Controlling Shareholders of up to HK$48,895,000 in favour
of the banks in respect of banking facilities granted to the
Group. Further details of the transactions are included in
note 27(a)(i) to the financial statements.

(i) In the prior year, certain of the Group’s lease liabilities
were guaranteed by personal guarantees provided by the
Controlling Shareholders of up to HK$28,607,000. Further
details of the transactions are included in note 15(b) to the
financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive's
emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial statements.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

2020

Financial assets

Trade receivables

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Financial asset at fair value through

profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents

2019
Financial assets
Trade receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
Due from the ultimate holding company

Due from a director
Cash and cash equivalents

37. REHBSHNEMTE

20204

TREE

B 2 RWGRIA

FRAENFE e
Hib EURIAR S B E &

BAFHERT ABZRD
TRAE
RekReEEBY

20194

TREE

B 2 WA

FEATEMRIE - e REMmER
RENSEEE

& WA R PR A A R R0R

RN —HEEFIA

RENREFED

Financial
assets at
amortised cost
bizg Sz ]DN
AENSREE
HK$'000
FAT

48,327

5,156
22

290
43,807

97,602
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)

Financial liabilities cHas
Trade payables B S EMNRE

37. REFBSNEMTA(E)

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHTT

35,381

Financial liabilities included in other payables and &t A E A fE B K fET & A

accruals HoRaE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EERTTIE R

Lease liabilities HEBE
Due to directors B EE IR

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amount and fair value of the Group’'s financial
instrument, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably

approximate to fair values, are as follows:

As at 31 December 2020

Financial asset SHMEE

4,944
20,726
41,835

403

103,289

38. TRMITEMNAFERLDFERER

AEESRTANKREENRR FE (AREE &
NHESEBEEERINIT

720205128 31H

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss X AF(EFF ABRHLRIEE

The Group did not have any financial asset measured at fair value as
at 31 December 2019.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, trade
receivables, an amount due from the ultimate holding company,
balances with directors, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals and dividend payables
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 38. $BTEAMNATERATEBR(E)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee.
At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for
interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liguidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of non-current deposits and other payables, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, and were assessed to approximated to their carrying
amounts. The Group's own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 was assessed to
be insignificant.

The fair value of a key management insurance contract classified
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss is based on
the account value less surrender charge, quoted by the vendor. The
directors believe that the estimated fair value resulting from the
valuation technique, which is recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position, and the related change in fair value, which is
recorded in profit or loss, is reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.
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BERMEH 2 52 FEGGE AL MHR
RR)EAFEZBBEHGIABR)HRE
2 YARBEMRZERAEEE-
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 38. $BTEAMNATERATEEBR(E)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to TR&EH e T AEER2020F &2019F12
the valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative A31HZEARTAIERE AEERTEE2HHE
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2020 and 2019: DITBEE -

Key management insurance N/A  Account values HK$6,492,000 5% (2019: Nil)
contract classified as a TEHA KRFEE 6,492,000/ 7T increase (decrease)
financial asset at fair value (2019: Nil) in account values
through profit or loss (20194 : ) would result in

DEAEATEFABEZZEHE increase (decrease)
BENTEEEAEBRBAL in fair value by

HK$67,000 (2019:
Nil)
BREEELEACTE)
5% (20194 : ##)
BEHAFELF
("~F%)67,000/8 7T
(20194 : #&)
Surrender charge HK$1,088,000 5% (2019: Nil)
RREA 1,088,000/ 7T increase (decrease)
(2019: Nil) in surrender charge

(20194 : ) would result in
increase (decrease)
in fair value by
HK$54,000 (2019:
Nil)

RIRERA EFACTIRE)
5% (20194 : £)
BEHRAFELEF
("FF%)54,000/8 7T
(20194 : #&)
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 38. €I AN AFERAFERR(E)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy DNEEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy TREBAAEEEBRTAZ AFEFEER :

of the Group's financial instrument:

As at 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H

Financial asset at fair value BAFETABEN

through profit or loss CRVEE

The movement in fair value measurement within Level 3 during the HZE2020F12A31BILFE » EIFAHNAF
year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows: B EZFHNAT :

At 1 January ®1A18

Purchases BE

Total losses recognised in profit or loss B ERA EIE 45

At 31 December Mm12A31H
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38.

39.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

During the year, there were no transfer of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers out of Level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities (2019: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, an
amount due from the ultimate holding company, balances with
directors, trade payables, other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other
than the units’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the Hong Kong
dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair values of
monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group's equity.
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38.

39.

ERTANAFERAFEER(E)

DNPEEBRGE)

%2020 2019128310 » AEE L EE
MEAFEFENSRAE -

FRN - cREERSHABEE1REE2RN
AFEFEZHMIEEYE - FIRNESH
(20194 : &) »

BT b E 2R B AR RBUR

AEETENEHMTABRAS KRS EFE
Y BHEWHIR - R REMBUIFUR - fE
WERIERNRIFRIA  EEEER - EHENK
A AENFARERER - FHERITER
LEEAE -

EEEBASESRMT AN T ERARFINER
B AEER  FERBREABESRR B
FeEMRRCARERSHRRNER - #
MEAT o

SN LR

AEEEBERZEERR - ZERRKREEE
BAEREMREEE AT TETZ
ERERE -

TRIANBREIRENA H oA & ERER
TENBERT  AEBEHERAEN (AR E
BEERBBNATEEDMBORAEEN
HHEETERS B BN HRE -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 39. BIEREREERKE (&)

(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) ShEE LR (42)
% HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
As at 31 December 2020 72020%12831H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ WMAREEETTERE
If Renminbi strengthens against HK$ {4 A R ¥ 5 & T FHE
As at 31 December 2019 72019%12H31H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ i AR S BT E 5 (463) -
If Renminbi strengthens against HK$  fif A BB 3 T FHE (5) 463 -

* Excluding retained profits
Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's bank borrowings with floating
interest rates. The interest rates and terms of repayment of
the Group's borrowings are disclosed in note 27 to the financial
statements. The Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable
interest rates available for its borrowings. Management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposures should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

* PRERRER

7 £ (B8 T s ) T 355 1) R A B L i = 2 LK R [
HF SRITERER o AEEEROFERE
BIERN MR TT27H 58 - REBABUR
DREERFRREENEK - BEEEENX
R - R AT ER K E B ERRH K E

Go o
N

TRIARRE I REMA E A ZEARER
TENBERT  AEEWBRHADEN (ERY
FRERRNFTE) BRI KA I A 58 & B H UK
ED
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020
Hong Kong dollar
Hong Kong dollar

As at 31 December 2019
Hong Kong dollar
Hong Kong dollar

2020512A31H
BT
BT

720195128311
BT
BT

The change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period, with
all other variables held constant, had no impact on the Group's equity
excluding retained profits for the years ended 31 December 2020

and 2019.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that only well-established customers
will be considered for open account terms and the approval of credit
terms is subject to stringent credit check procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the

Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.
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A= bz (&)

HK$'000

T

100 (207)
(100) 207

A H R A FI R B Eh (TR AT A E b A & = 4
BFRERERT)EAREBEE2020F %2019
F12A3MAEFEMNER (TEREREEH)
-

FERRE

AEEEERAAREERINE=ZTRS -
AEBHNBRBEHELEANT P EZRBRE
BEREEEHNARETRREERER
Froo tboh - REEFEE ARG - MAE
B ERERILTERX o
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2020 #2020%12631H

Trade receivables* B SRR

Financial assets included in FIABRFE kR
prepayments, deposits and H bW
other receivables** CREAE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents

BOTEFABENSREE

39. MIBEREERERBER(E)

SERB(E)

TEREFMR12A3MBERAEEEEBR(E
TIRFBAERSIE - BRIFEMBERBAN T
TRBERAKZE A ES)NEEEERR
AEBERBM O AR EREEDLE - FTHSHE
RBEMEEZR@AME -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 39. BiEMREEBZERBEK(E)

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) =SB R (&)
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8R
BEEEEE *HRHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BB EYLL ERlT [l b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T THL Tir Tir
As at 31 December 2019 20195125318

Trade receivables* 2 SR - - - 48,327 48,327

Financial assets included in STABAFE  RER

prepayments, deposits and other Hin Y Es

receivables** CRAE 5,156 = = = 5,156
Due from the ultimate holding company WS &RIERA A]ZIA 22 - - - 22
Due from a director ER—BESHE 290 - - - 290
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEN 43,807 - - - 43,807
49,275 - - 48,327 97,602

o For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for i RAEEEAMCAXETRENESBEERME -
impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the FR BRI RE 9 B RN B IS R R i sE20 0 B -
financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other > HABRMRE - ReRAMEEFENEREEZEE
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due or there is no BENAROHR W EEHNRPZELREES VI HER
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk RIEERRBAZEMSERS [EFE] -
since initial recognition.

Credit risk concentration EERBRES

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third AR AEFEESAREERITFNE=A

parties, there is no requirement for collateral. The Group had certain 5 WEEEER ANEEEETEEESRE

concentrations of credit risk as the trade receivables in terms of the e DHRATESREKNGBELEANERSE S E

following percentages were due from the Group’s largest external WHIBEAZEN A DL YR AEBZAINEEF

customer and the Group's five largest external customers out of the RANEFHBRAINLRL 4R -

Group's total trade receivables:

2019

20194

%

Due from the Group's largest external customer JEUW AL B & AIMNBEF 11
Due from the Group's five largest external ERAEERARINTIRS

customers 23
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 39. BIEAREREERKE (&)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liguidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings and funds
generated from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual and undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

HK$'000 HK$'000

MENE E E

AEEEREEERDESHRE TAEEES
SRRER ZTAFREESRTANSRE
EMENIIHBEARBALLERSRSRE

AEEN B BEREBEARITERLEEMRS
BEe EESZARBUEREEE ZMRET
g -

AEBRBERARERE N EARRNRHE
MAGEIHARLT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET TET THET THET THET TET
As at 31 December 2020 %2020612531A
Trade payables BHENTE
Financial liabilities included in AR MEMNTUAR
other payables and accruals [ ERNEREE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT
Lease liabilities HEBE
As at 31 December 2019 #2019%12631A
Trade payables 25 ERFE - 35,381 - - - 35,381
Financial liabilities included in STAEMERTER
other payables and accruals EHERNEREE - 4,944 - - - 4,944
Interest-bearing bank borrowings & BER{THEZ 16,516 481 1,443 2,561 - 21,001
Lease liabilities neEak = 4,434 8,836 21,732 14,001 49,053
Due to directors EREZZE 403 _ - _ _ 403
16,919 45,240 10,329 24,293 14,001 110,782

The Group's term loans with a repayment on demand clause in the A % B A £ 18,695,000 % jt (2019 F :
amount of HK$18,695,000 (2019: HK$16,516,000) were repayable 16,516,000/% 7T ) Mt 75 12 2 Sk & 2 1R 380 & 2
after one year in accordance with the terms of the loans. The loan ERREEEERNGERARN—FRERE -
agreements contained a repayment on demand clause giving the A ZE R SREREEGK  ZIEHE TIEIT
bank the unconditional right to call in the loans at any time and PMER] B B R M E R RER) - B - 3t
therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the amount P BEAARR TS c BEARIERYEA [RE

is classified as “on demand”. sk o

HEEZERERLT © 2020 FERSE



140

NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI T

31 December 2020
2020 12H31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that
the loans will be called in their entirety within 12 months, and they
consider that the loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity
dates as set out in the loan agreements. This evaluation was made
considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of this
report; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of
events of default; and the fact that the Group has made all previously
scheduled repayments on time.

As at 31 December 2020, in accordance with the terms of the
loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were HK$8,129,000
due within one year, HK$5,707,000 due in the second year, and
HK$8,999,000 due beyond two years.

As at 31 December 2019, in accordance with the terms of the
loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were HK$6,451,000
due within one year, HK$6,451,000 due in the second year, and
HK$9,159,000 due after two years.

Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices
and the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to
market price risk arising from key management insurance contracts
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note
18) as at 31 December 2020.
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9. M EMREEBERBEKE)

RBESEE(E)

BEA LR  EEXTIRBA/EBETHE
12AAREFHRER - ARSEBEFERIEE
KA A EE - ERAFEEEET
FIEREIER « REBNARE B HP BN
N AREHEFRFENARBR  REHR
BHEM  RAKEERREELAMERE

e &)
B o

R2020F12A31H @ RBEEZRER > R—F
NEIHAR G 4R BEIR S 51 A8,129,000% 7T
RE = F 3|5 55,707,00056 T © RMELAE
FI|H1 48,999,000/ 7T °

M2019512A31H ' REBEERER - R—F
NEIHR S £ KRB IR 1 57 A56,451,000% T
NE — 5|1 A56,451,0008 7T - NREL T
Hi749,159,000/8 7T °

mISE KR

TS E R R T B 7 B AE F Bk F K {1 Bl 3% 55
BESZIMEFWABFZ AFETNRERZ
B o 2020512310 » REEHEED E
BEREATEFABSENEREEZFTEEEA
BIRBEHMEL 2 T HEERR(KHIE18) °
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 39. BIEAREREERKE (&)

(Continued)
Market price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% change
in the fair values of the key management insurance contracts with
all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax and
the Group's equity, based on their carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period.

2020 20204
Key management insurance contract

classified as a financial asset at fair value BEMNTEEEEAE
through profit or loss REE L

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders or return capital to shareholders. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

DRRRAFERA

miSERERE(E)

TSR SR BT ELA A R A TR
T BEWE R BEE - ARERBA
FIRAEEERHEEERABRRA DN D
TIEE6% BB -

EXREHR

AEFETEFAERTIEE EREAEENH
BICERET - URBRIRH MRS AR &R
BREBABEE SRR

AEEEBREEAEEKARSEMRREBNE
B - BESRAREALER  AEETAE
SHERN FRERAREFESARREEE
AN o B ZE2020F K 201912831 B ILEE -
EEEAANBERE  BERKEBFITELIRES -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  39.

(Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities less cash
and cash equivalents. Capital represents the equity attributable
to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the

reporting periods were as follows:

Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities
Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Capital and net debt

Gearing ratio

Cirtek Holdings Limited © 2020 Annual Report

FHRRITER
HEAE
o R MRS EEY

FETS
(SYNSIEZ PN ey 3

B RFETS

EERELE

M EREREBRREREEE)

EXREE(E)

AEBEREERGL X (AVFHEBRIALH
BEERNIFEB)ERER - FEABKEETE
RITEFREEAERRESIREEEY - &
RIEFRAHEE AEIG#ERD - RBEEHRNE
EABLEMT

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHTT

20,726
41,835
(43,807)

18,754
143,970

162,724

11.5%
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

*

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments

Due from subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals
Due to a subsidiary

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

Net assets

TOTAL EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

Less than HK$500

FRBEE
KB A RNRE
REBEE
N RIA
JRE W o I8 X R R IE
RehkBReEEY

mEBEERE

REEE

Hi e RIERENER
JE S — PRI Y 188 & Rl 3R
mERERE

REEEFE
(BEFH)

BEFE
B RE
A
[t

R4 EE

40. D BB AR R &

2019

20194

Notes HK$'000
=2 FHET

16 201,488

36

36
20
1,214

1,234

(1,198)

200,290
29 =¥

200,290

200,290

* D500 T
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

41.

(Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows:

Acquisition of subsidiaries under common control
pursuant to the Reorganisation

Loss for the period and total comprehensive
loss for the period

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020

Issue of new shares pursuant to the capitalisation

New shares issued pursuant to the share offer

Share issuance cost

Equity settled share option arrangement

Special dividend

Loss for the year and total comprehensive loss
for the period

At 31 December 2020

AR 4R B AR MR L R R O
MR

HABBRRAAZEEER
ikl

R2019F12A318 &
20201 A1H

RBEARMCBITHRG

R B E BT

A& AR BT AR

A i B R A 2o

R Bl AR 8

FABBRRMAZEERRE

202046128318

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 29 March 2021.
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HK$'000
TR

(1,198)

HK$'000
FET

201,488

(1,198)
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